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  Distant in my Dream


  In the silence of the night,


  Your presence overpowers me.


  I’m aroused by your gentle touch.


  The quiet beating


  Of your heart,


  Becomes my safety hideout.


  Your face has not yet been revealed to me,


  But your soul I’ll recognize.


  It frightens me to realize


  That in the morning,


  Your touch becomes a faded memory.


  You discreetly vanish


  In the denseness of the fog


  Of a distant dream,


  Leaving my lonely soul behind.


  Like the distant dying rainbow


  When the rain has ceased,


  So is the distance between you and me.


  My Angel of Time


  My Time Angel,


  My Angel of Time,


  I seek you in time


  And out of time.


  I await you in time


  Where time itself awaits you.


  My Time Angel,


  My Angel of Time,


  I dream of you, but I can’t see you.


  You whisper in my ears, but I can’t hear you.


  For you are in a time that is not my time.


  My darling soul mate,


  Don’t delay our meeting in life.


  Our souls were bonded forever in time.


  The universe and the stars lined up in perfect harmony


  To carefully arrange our timely meeting in time.


  Rush to me, my beloved Angel of Time,


  For time itself waits impatiently for our souls to reunite.


  Chapter 1


  The hot summer morning was filled with the sounds of children playing and the constant droning of lawn mowers. On occasion, a light breeze whisked by carrying with it the fragrance of fresh summer blooms. Mr. and Mrs. Dale sat lazily on their lawn chairs, watching people pass by with intrigued glances at the items they had for sale. Among the many interesting items that the Dales so creatively displayed on the tables that were scattered around the yard were pickled vegetables jars, which Mrs. Dale and her sister Rachel had prepared a few months before. There was also a box full of old kitchenware, a pile of rags, a table with toys, an old television set, and several other eye-catching second-hand items.


  One visitor, Danielle Lancaster, paid no mind to these items; instead, she sifted intently through a number of old photographs and paintings. Although she appreciated the conveniences of 1990, Danielle had always had an uncanny interest in anything from the 1800s. Given the opportunity, she would spend countless hours scavenging through old archives and documents, still never quite fulfilling her desire for more knowledge.


  As she sorted through the paintings and photographs, a painting caught her eye. It captivated her and instantly made an impression on her soul. She could almost feel within her the haste and fervor with which the unknown artist had completed the work. The image in the painting was of a very despondent-looking man sitting hopelessly with tears running from his eyes, writing what seemed to be a passionate love letter or perhaps a quite painful good-bye letter. The artist had managed to capture the soul of this dreadfully distraught man and had successfully embodied it in the captivating painting. It also seemed to be from the mid-1800s, which is another reason that it appealed to Danielle.


  Danielle approached the homeowners, Mr. and Mrs. Dale, with the intention to learn more about the painting. “Good morning, Mr. and Mrs. Dale,” Danielle said.


  “Good morning, Danielle, ”they both replied simultaneously.


  “I’m so glad to see you here, child. I was getting a little worried about you. I have not seen you at church in two weeks now,” said Mrs. Dale. She got up from her chair and walked toward Danielle to greet her.


  “I appreciate your concern, Mrs. Dale,” said Danielle.“I came down with a cold, but I’m much better now.”


  “I’m glad you are feeling better, Danielle,” said Mrs. Dale.“I hope to see you again at church this coming Sunday,” she added.


  “I’ll try to be there,” Danielle replied.


  “Good,” said Mrs. Dale. “I’ll let you continue with your browsing.”


  Mrs. Dale was about to walk away. “Can you tell me anything about this painting?”Danielle asked.


  Mrs. Dale was a bit puzzled. “The only thing I can tell you is that Harold found it ten years ago underneath a park bench not far from here,” she replied. “Let’s go ask him. I’m sure he can tell you more about it than I can.” Mrs. Dale and Danielle walked to the porch, where Harold was dozing off.


  “He looks so peaceful,” whispered Danielle.“I don’t want to disturb his rest,” she added. “Maybe I can ask him about the painting the next time I see him.”


  “Don’t you worry about disturbing Harold’s rest,” said Mrs. Dale. “Lately all he does is rest. The man has taken rest to a whole new level; he even rests before he takes a nap so that he is well rested for his nap!” They both laughed aloud, waking Harold.


  “Hello, Danielle,” said Harold. “How long have you and my sweet Rebecca been standing there like angels guarding my peace.”


  “Hello, Mr. Dale,” said Danielle. “I apologize for waking you.”


  “Oh, I was not asleep. I was just relaxing my body and meditating on the things of the Lord,” he said as he looked at his wife.


  “Uh huh,” retorted Mrs. Dale. “You seem to be meditating a lot lately. I just hope you’re not trying to become ‘The Enlightened One.’” They all laughed. Mrs. Dale then sat next to her husband. “Harold, Danielle was hoping you could tell her more about this painting,” she said as she pointed at the painting Danielle was holding.


  Harold looked at the painting and sighed. “I was hoping you didn’t sell this one, Rebecca. I have become quite attached to it through the years,” he said in sadness.


  Mrs. Dale looked at her husband in surprise. “Honey, for ten long years that painting has been collecting dust in our basement! Not once did I hear you mention it. You never even bothered to find a place for it in the house. I didn’t think you ever even looked at it again, but if that’s how you feel about it, I couldn’t possibly sell it.” Mrs. Dale turned to Danielle. “Please forgive me, Danielle, but the painting is no longer for sale. As you heard yourself, my husband has become quite attached to it.”


  Harold noticed how sad Danielle became after hearing Mrs. Dale’s words. “Now wait a minute, Rebecca,” he said. “I admit that I like the painting, and I will even admit that it was sort of comforting knowing the painting was safely in our home. For some strange reason, all these years I’ve felt as if I had been guarding it for its rightful owner. But seeing how sad Danielle became when you told her that the painting was no longer for sale, I feel deep within my heart that in Danielle the painting has found its rightful owner.”


  Danielle felt an immense relief after hearing Harold’s words. It was as if her soul had been returned to her body after being yanked out. “Thank you, Mr. Dale. I promise you both that I will take good care of it.”


  Mrs. Dale chuckled. “Now let’s not get carried away here. It’s a painting, not a child. I think we can all agree that we have all become a little sentimental over it. Now let’s go back to the original question.” She looked at her husband. “Harold, what can you tell Danielle about the painting?”


  Harold remained silent, staring at a blank space for a short moment. He was trying to remember every specific detail of that cold December day ten years ago. “There is not much to tell about the painting itself,” he said.“It was just tossed underneath a bench at the park between Maple and Grand. I remember there was a very strange young man sitting on that particular bench. The man was wearing very old attire, and he was mumbling about something. I immediately thought that he was probably an actor who was practicing his lines because there was an acting studio not far from the park.


  “I picked up the painting and asked him if it was his. He stared at it and shook his head. I took the painting and brought it home with me, and I laid it down on the couch and waited for Rebecca to find a place for it. I did not take a good look at the painting when I first found it at the park. But when I laid it down on the couch, I took a good look at it. I almost fell backward in shock. The man in the painting was the same man who was sitting on the park bench.


  “I did not understand why he shook his head when I asked if the painting belonged to him. I then realized that the man was not shaking his head as a response to my question. The man was staring at the painting of himself. He was in shock and was therefore shaking his head in confusion and disbelief. If I had taken the time to look at the image in the painting, I would have realized that it was the same man sitting on the bench.


  “I immediately grabbed the painting, tossed it in my car, and drove back to the park. When I got there, the young man was no longer there. I returned home with the painting, and this time Rebecca was home. She asked me where I got it. I told her the truth about where I found it, but I never told her the rest of the story.”


  Mrs. Dale and Danielle were both confused by Harold’s story. Mrs. Dale looked at her husband and softly said, “Now, honey, you didn’t have to go as far as creating an intriguing story about the painting for Danielle to fall in love with it. She has already fallen in love with it.”


  Harold seemed confused and disoriented. “Rebecca, why are all our belongings out in the yard? Are we moving out of our house?”


  “No, honey. I promise we’re not moving out of our house. We are just having a yard sale to help our church build that school for the orphans in Guatemala. Don’t you remember, honey?” Rebecca asked worriedly. “You have been helping Rachel and me prepare for our annual charity yard sale all week, and you have done so with great excitement.”


  Harold became lucid again. “Of course I remember,” he said clearly and firmly. “How are we doing with the sales?”


  “Not bad,” said Rebecca. “We have practically sold everything, and it’s not even noon yet.”


  Harold then looked at Danielle, who stared at him in confusion. “Danielle, make sure you leave with a few items. Those poor orphans in Guatemala are depending on us to help them.”


  “I will, Mr. Dale,” she said.“I will also talk to my husband about giving a donation for the Guatemalan orphans.”She then went down the steps with Mrs. Dale, who had been gesturing behind Harold’s back, indicating she wanted to talk to her.


  “Danielle,” said Mrs. Dale, “I’m sorry for not warning you about Harold’s ‘mental fogs,’ as I call them. He doesn’t get them very often, but today it lasted a little longer than usual. Do you think I should be worried?”


  Danielle was careful not to worry Mrs. Dale unnecessarily, but she was concerned about Mr. Dale’s “mental fogs,” as Mrs. Dale called them. The first thing that came to her mind was Alzheimer’s disease. “I think to be on the safe side you should take him to his doctor as soon as possible. It could turn out to be nothing serious, but the best thing is to have his doctor run some tests and find the cause for Mr. Dale’s mental fogs,” she said.


  “Thank you. I will call and make an appointment first thing Monday morning,” said Mrs. Dale.“And I’m sorry for not having more information about the painting. I can see that you are genuinely taken by it.”


  “Oh, Mrs. Dale,” said Danielle, “please don’t worry about it. I was simply asking out of curiosity.” But deep inside, Danielle was a bit disappointed. She was hoping to learn more about the painting. She had an unexplainable feeling that there was an interesting story behind the painting, the artist, or perhaps both. She paid Mrs. Dale for the painting and walked away.


  As Danielle was walking away, Rachel, Mrs. Dale’s younger sister, walked up to her.


  Rachel was tall and slender, and her auburn hair matched her extravagant dress, which coincidently matched the satin tiny pouch she had made for the tarot cards she brought with her everywhere she went. “Hello, Danielle. I’m sorry I couldn’t greet you when you first arrived, but as you saw yourself, this place has been crowded all morning. We seem to be catching a break now.”


  Danielle liked Rachel, but she tried to avoid her whenever possible. Rachel was kind and sweet like her sister, but her eccentricity could be overwhelming. “Hello, Rachel.”Danielle smiled.


  “I was planning on paying you a visit today after the yard sale had ended,” said Rachel.“I had a strange dream about you last night, and as you already know, I believe that our dreams are trying to tell us something and that we need to open our ears to our spirit and listen carefully. If we don’t, we’ll miss the opportunity to influence the outcome of that bad thing our dream was trying to warn us about.”


  Danielle was careful not to hurt Rachel’s feelings by revealing her lack of interest in the dream. Though Rachel’s beliefs were not necessarily her beliefs, Danielle knew for a fact that Rachel was a kind soul who genuinely cared about her fellow man, and Danielle could sense that Rachel was concerned about the dream she had. Deep inside, Danielle was not a bit curious. She somehow knew that if the dream was coming from Rachel, she had to prepare herself for what would most likely sound like science fiction. Danielle politely asked, “What was your dream about?”


  Rachel remained silent for a few seconds. She was internally debating whether she should tell Danielle or not. “I honestly don’t know where to start. I don’t want to be insensitive in anyway.”


  “Don’t worry about sounding insensitive,” said Danielle. “I know that you are not. Just go ahead and tell me the dream as best you can.”


  “All right,” said Rachel. “In my dream, you were lost and had no memory, and you desperately looked for what seemed to be a very old and distant door. As you got closer to finding the door, you were murdered by your husband’s girlfriend. The weird thing was that your husband did not look like your husband at all, and he too was looking for the old distant door.”


  Danielle was surprised; Rachel’s dream did not sound outlandish at all, aside from the part where her husband, who did not look like her husband, had a girlfriend who then murdered her. Rachel’s dream sounded like any other bizarre dream.“That sure was a strange dream,” said Danielle.“Especially the part where my husband had a girlfriend. I am not an expert on the meanings of dreams, but I’m thinking that maybe the man in your dream did not look like my husband because your dream was about someone else.”


  “That dream was odd even for me,” said Rachel. “It drained my spirit. But the woman in the dream was you, and I was sad because I knew it was you.”


  “Don’t be sad. It was only a dream.” Danielle gave Rachel a sympathetic smile. “I have to get going now. I have a few errands to run. It was nice talking to you, and thank you for sharing your dream with me,” she added.


  Rachel stared at the painting as Danielle walked away. “That man in the painting looks so familiar,” she mumbled to herself.


  Danielle walked back to her car, half-dazed. When she arrived home, she laid the painting comfortably on her old leather couch until she could choose the perfect place to hang this remarkable work of art.


  As a history teacher, she naturally decided to do some research on the painting, but all her efforts were in vain. Nowhere in history could she find any information on the artist or the painting itself. Danielle was becoming frustrated. All her life she had been fascinated with everything related to the 1800s, but now, when she desperately needed it, none of her knowledge of the period was proving to be useful. After the painting had been left neglected on her leather couch for a week, Danielle’s husband, Shane, convinced her to put the painting in the attic.


  The following morning Danielle woke up to the sound of singing birds outside her bedroom window. Shane was still asleep. Danielle quietly got out of bed and tiptoed out of the bedroom and downstairs into the kitchen. She plugged in the coffeemaker, opened the refrigerator door, and took out a carton of eggs and other breakfast essentials. It was Shane’s thirty-sixth birthday, and she wanted to surprise him by having their breakfast in bed.


  Since Shane and Danielle moved to New York almost a year ago, their relationship had been deteriorating. Danielle went from being an outgoing, happy woman whose cheerful personality frequently lit up any room she entered to being sad and withdrawn. For some reason, she felt strangely different this morning. As she was about to go up the stairs with a breakfast tray in her hands, Shane was descending the stairs, already dressed for work.


  Shane was an absolute pleasure to Danielle’s deep green eyes. His sapphire-blue eyes and dark blond hair beautifully complemented his tall, strong body.


  He stood in the middle of the staircase gazing at Danielle with delighted satisfaction. Danielle’s beauty had always captivated him. He loved running his fingers through her beautiful long black hair. Shane had a yearning desire to make passionate love to her. He had been patiently waiting for this moment for a long time.


  Before moving to New York, Danielle and Shane couldn’t get enough of each other. That all changed the moment they moved to New York. The drastic change of scenery depressed Danielle, and up until this moment, she had not shown any signs of interest in rekindling the passionate marriage they always had. She blushed at the sight of her husband’s excited expression, and she smiled timidly. She was surprised by herself; at the mere look of lust and undeniable desire in her husband’s eyes, her blood rushed through her veins like fire. She was aroused in a way she had not been in quite a while.


  Shane could hardly contain the excitement he felt. His imagination was going wild. He rushed back up the stairs with a big grin on his pale face. Anxiously, he unbuttoned his shirt as he walked back toward the bedroom. After removing the rest of his clothes, he got under the red satin sheets and pretended to be asleep.


  Danielle slowly followed him into the bedroom, placed the tray on the nightstand, and played along with his seductive game.


  Danielle removed her clothes and lay down next to her husband. She tenderly caressed his neck, rubbed his chest, and whispered softly in his ears, “I so wanted to massage you all over, but since you are asleep, I guess I’ll have to leave now.” Danielle acted as if she were going to leave their bed.


  Shane grabbed Danielle’s milk-white arm and pulled her slender body under the sheets.


  About thirty minutes later, Shane rushed down the stairs, fixing his tie and tucking in his shirt. Danielle walked right behind him with a cup of coffee in her hands.


  “Honey, you haven’t eaten your breakfast.”


  “Oh, but I thought I did,” he said facetiously. “Do you mean there’s more?”


  Danielle smiled and handed him the cup. “Drink your coffee before it gets any colder.”


  “Oh, that breakfast!” He grinned broadly. He took the cup from Danielle and quickly took a sip and then handed the cup back to her.


  Danielle took the cup and kissed him good-bye. As he was about to walk toward the door, she grabbed his hand and pulled him back toward her. “I thought you had decided to close the clinic on Saturdays.”Danielle’s voice was gentle and seductive. “I would love to enjoy our Saturday morning a bit longer.”


  Shane gently caressed Danielle’s face. “In the near future, that will be possible, but for the time being, I need the extra time to better acclimate myself to every aspect of the clinic, and my presence will also help my father’s patients get used to me.” He told her that he was running late for his first appointment, kissed her, and rushed out the door.


  Chapter 2


  Danielle went into the kitchen to clean up a little. While she was doing the dishes and looking out the kitchen window, she saw her neighbor Susan dressed in provocative clothing and putting a small suitcase into the trunk of her car. She then got into her car and drove away. Danielle was a bit surprised that Susan did not call to let her know that she would not be joining her today to go hunting for yard sales.


  Danielle and Susan had become close friends. Their mutual passion for antiques and yard sales had brought them together. They went out every Saturday morning to look for yard sales in the area. Danielle had been worried about Susan ever since they last talked two days ago. Susan had confided in Danielle about her love affair with her husband’s business partner, David. Danielle had advised her to end the relationship for the sake of her marriage. But Susan was determined to continue her affair. She had fallen in love with David, and she did not feel guilty or bad about it. Her husband, Mathew, had not shown interest in her in quite some time. Danielle could not possibly understand what Susan was going through; she had a husband who showed his love for her in every area needed, a husband who physically couldn’t get enough of her. Susan’s marriage lacked the physical part. Her thirty-one-year-old husband was cold and somewhat lazy in bed, while David was passionate, wild, and good at anticipating and then fulfilling her every need.


  Danielle had a slight idea about where Susan was heading. Mathew and their four-year-old son, Kevin, had travelled to Florida to visit his parents. He begged Susan to go with them, but she made all kinds of excuses not to go. David wanted to spend a few days alone with her in his beach house in Cape Cod. A romantic weekend at the beach with a passionate, wild, middle-aged man was clearly more enticing to a neglected thirty-year-old housewife. David’s grass looked greener from Susan’s side of the fence. There was nothing Danielle could say to her that would make her see otherwise.


  Danielle finished cleaning up the kitchen and went upstairs to get ready to leave. A few minutes later, she got into her car and drove away. She stopped at a red light. When she looked to her right, she noticed a large, two-story Victorian house with a wraparound porch. The house was captivating; it had wood siding, and it gleamed under the sun. It was a deep green with soft gray around the edges, and it was surrounded by golden maple trees.


  It looked like there was a yard sale, so Danielle parked her car. She walked around the sale, browsing through several items, but nothing really caught her interest. So she decided to leave. As she was leaving, an older woman dressed in old-fashioned garments rushed toward her, shouting, “Katherine! Katherine, please don’t leave!”


  Danielle turned and looked behind her. She noticed a brunette woman about fifty-five years old, who was looking at her and smiling. The woman seemed sad, tired, and sweet.


  She walked toward the woman, and as she came closer, she began having strange visions. She saw that same woman, only younger, brushing the hair of a little girl about six or seven years of age. The little girl referred to the woman as “mother,” and the woman called her Katherine.


  Danielle was confused by the strange vision she had just experienced, but she managed to approach the woman. “Hello, there! I felt as though you were calling me, but my name is not Katherine. It’s Danielle.”


  The woman smiled and looked at her with tenderness. She gently caressed Danielle’s face. “You have aged a little, my sweet child. The last time we saw each other you had just turned twenty, and you were extremely happy because a few months before, you had finally married the man you loved. You thought you might be with child. Today, you stand in front of me a different woman, a woman who is profoundly melancholic and confused.”


  Danielle gave the woman a sympathetic smile and backed away from her. She perceived a profound sadness in the woman and became sad herself. She thought that maybe this poor, sad woman was mourning the loss of her daughter, who she seemed to be confusing Danielle with. “With all due respect, ma’am, you are the one who seems to be confused. My name is Danielle Lancaster, not Katherine.”


  The woman smiled and handed her a silver hand mirror, which appeared to be an antique. Danielle accepted the mirror, and as she examined it, she had a distinct feeling that she had seen it somewhere before. The unique design on the handle captivated her. Without taking her eyes off the mirror, she asked, “How much do you want for it?”She looked up, and the woman was no longer there.


  Danielle walked around the house, trying to find the woman. She bumped into a young girl about ten years of age with deep green eyes and jet-black, shoulder-length hair. The young girl was also dressed in old-fashioned garments.


  The girl dropped her rag doll on the ground as she bumped into Danielle.


  “Hello,” said Danielle.


  The girl smiled at her without saying a word. Danielle bent down and picked up the rag doll to hand it back to the girl, but by the time Danielle stood up, the girl had already vanished.


  Danielle stood in the middle of the yard sale, confused. She walked up to an elegant young woman who seemed to be the owner of the house.


  “Excuse me, ma’am,” said Danielle. “Did an older woman and a young girl who were dressed in old-fashioned clothing pass by here?”


  The woman looked at her and said, “Katherine, have you forgotten my name?”


  “Ma’am, I have no recollection of ever meeting you before.”


  “Take a closer look at me, Katherine,” the woman said.


  At that point, Danielle became a little suspicious of the strange behavior of the people there. She finally realized that everyone there wore old-fashioned attire. She also realized that the patio furniture and the items that were on display were vintage.


  Danielle looked the woman straight in the eyes. “I’m sorry, but I think you have me confused with someone else. My name is not Katherine. It’s Danielle.”


  Danielle walked away from the woman and went around the back of the house.


  Everyone here is very strange, she thought.


  She looked through a window and noticed a man tied to a bed. The window was open, but Danielle couldn’t go through it because it had metal bars all around it.


  The man became aware of Danielle’s presence. He struggled to get her attention. As he raised his head, their eyes finally met.


  “Danielle, you finally made it back!” shouted the man.“I want to go home, Danielle. I want to go home!” he screamed in desperation.


  Danielle moved away from the window and ran to her car. Once inside, she laid the mirror and the rag doll down in the passenger seat.


  Danielle lived only a few blocks away. She thought of going to her house and calling the police from there, but as she was about to start the car, she saw a payphone across the street.


  She nervously got out of her car again and walked to the payphone to call 911.


  “911. What’s your emergency?” asked the voice on the other end of the line.


  “Operator, there’s a man tied to a bed, and he seems to be hurt!”


  “Please, slow down, ma’am! I can hardly understand you.”


  Danielle managed to calm down and slowly told the operator again. “There’s a man tied up to a bed, and he seems to be hurt.”


  “Is he responsive?” asked the operator.


  “Yes, he seems to be responsive but confused,” said Danielle. “He seems to know me; he was shouting my name and saying he wanted to go home.”


  “What’s the address?”asked the operator.


  “I’m not sure,” Danielle said. “But there’s a park with the statue of a man on a horse right across from the house.”


  “Wait on the line. I’ll give that information to the local police.”


  The operator came back on the line and told Danielle that help was on the way.


  Danielle hung up the phone and walked back to her car. She waited inside the car for the police to arrive.


  A few minutes later, Danielle heard a distant siren. She waited impatiently for the police to arrive, the siren becoming louder and closer. Two officers arrived at the scene. Danielle got out of her car to greet the officers.


  One of the officers stared at Danielle in profound astonishment. Danielle approached the officer and pointed straight ahead. “Officers, that’s the house where the tied man is.”


  The officers looked at each other, and one officer said, “Lady, do you find this amusing?”


  “I don’t understand your question, sir,” said Danielle. Danielle was too aggravated by the officer’s comment to realize that she was pointing at a cemetery.


  “Ma’am, you do realize you’re pointing at a cemetery?”


  “What on earth are you talking about? What cemetery?”She looked again and realized that, in fact, there was a cemetery where the house had stood.


  Danielle walked up to one of the officers.“Officer, I don’t understand what’s going on here, but I swear there was a house there only minutes ago.”


  “Why don’t we finish this conversation at the station?” asked one of the officers.


  “Michael, give the lady time to calm down. She seems really frightened,” said the other officer. He approached Danielle and asked her if there was anyone they could call for her.


  “Thank you, officer, but that won’t be necessary,” said Danielle.


  “Please, call me Zack,” he replied. At that moment, Shane pulled over in his car.


  “Dr. Lancaster, what are you doing here?” asked Michael.


  “I was driving by and noticed my wife’s car,” Shane answered. He got out of his car and walked up to his wife. “Are you OK, honey?”


  “Oh, Shane, I don’t understand what’s going on. I swear what I saw was real!”


  “Dr. Lancaster, your wife called us and said there was a man tied to a bed at this address,” said Zack.


  “Well, did you find the man?”asked Shane.


  “No, Doctor,” replied Zack. “As you can see, this is an abandoned cemetery—not a house, as your wife claims it was.”


  “No disrespect to you or your wife, Doctor,” said Michael. “But is your wife on any medication? Maybe something that causes her to hallucinate?”


  “No, she is not,” Shane replied. “But she has been under a lot of stress lately. We moved here a year ago, and it’s taking Danielle time to adjust to the New York life.”


  “Didn’t you used to live here sometime ago? I think we’ve met before,” said Zack.


  “Dr. Lancaster is originally from here,” Michael confirmed. “My mother was a nurse at his father’s clinic many years ago.”


  Zack looked at Shane. “I remember when I first started this job, and my previous partner and I brought a young woman to your clinic who we found roaming around in the park without memory. She looked a lot like—”


  Shane interrupted the officer.“Yes, I’m originally from New York. But I lived in Charlotte, North Carolina, for ten years.”


  “I see,” said Zack.“Is that where your wife is from?”


  “Yes,” replied Shane. “That’s why she’s having such a hard time adjusting.”


  Danielle remained quiet while they talked about her as if she wasn’t there.


  “I can relate to that,” said Zack. “I’m from the South myself. I moved here ten years ago, and I’m not completely acclimated to the big city life.” He looked at Danielle with a sympathetic smile.


  “Officer, I know what I saw.” She turned to Shane and said, “You of all people should believe me, but you choose instead to make me look like one of your mental patients.”


  Shane was saddened at his wife’s words. He rubbed her shoulder and said, “I’m sorry, sweetheart. That was not my intention.”


  “Dr. Lancaster, take your wife home, and we’ll forget about this whole incident,” said Michael. Zack nodded his head in agreement. Shane thanked both officers and walked away.


  Danielle was very confused, and she didn’t know what to make of the strange visions, if she could call them visions.


  “Come on, sweetheart,” said Shane. “I’ll drive you home.”


  “I’m OK. I can drive myself home!” Danielle replied with a mixture of anger and confusion in her voice.


  “All right. You can drive your car, and I’ll follow behind.”


  “I said I was OK! Why do you insist on treating me like a lunatic?”


  Shane put his arms around Danielle and gently caressed her hair.“I’m sorry for dragging you back to New York,” he said softly.


  “Honey, don’t you mean dragging me to New York?”


  “That’s what I said,” he immediately replied.


  “No, you said, ‘I’m sorry for dragging you back to New York.’”


  “Oh, I probably did say that. It hurts me to see you this unhappy. I’m beginning to regret coming back. I’m seriously thinking of selling everything my parents left, including the clinic and the house.”


  “I won’t let you do that!” Danielle exclaimed. “I know how much continuing your father’s work means to you. And I won’t stand in your way. I promise everything will go back to normal, especially now that I’m teaching again.”


  “But not having your own classroom is making you miserable.”


  “For the moment, I’m just substituting and teaching summer school, but soon I’ll have my own classroom.”


  Danielle and Shane embraced for a long moment and apologized to each other.


  “I’m sorry for getting so upset with you, honey,” Danielle softly whispered in his ear.


  “I deserved it. I shouldn’t have doubted you,” said Shane. “And to prove to you how sorry I really am, I won’t insist on following you home. You can drive yourself home. Just make sure you call me as soon as you get there.”


  Danielle kissed her husband and walked away. “Honey, you are such worrier. I’ll be fine!” she shouted as she got into her car.


  Shane got into his car and waited there until Danielle drove away.


  Danielle made a U-turn and pretended to head home, but she parked her car a block away. When she saw her husband’s car moving in the opposite direction, she turned her car around and drove back toward the cemetery.


  Danielle was nervous, and she drove slowly, looking from side to side to make sure her husband had not turned his car around to follow her. As she drove, she tried to reassure herself that she had not imagined everything she saw and heard.


  I know what I saw was real, she thought. She glanced at the rag doll and the silver hand mirror in the passenger seat.“Aha! Are those imaginary, too?” she asked aloud.“I’ll get to the bottom of whatever it is that’s happening to me.”


  She parked her car in the exact spot as before. Much to her surprise, when she got out of the car, the house was still there. The young girl who had dropped her doll was sitting on the front porch reading.


  Danielle walked up to the young girl.“Hi, there! Do you remember me?”


  The young girl nodded her head and reached for Danielle’s hands. But as she was about to talk, a deep, masculine voice from inside the house startled her.


  “Annabelle! Come inside the house this instant!” shouted the man.


  “I’ll be right there, sir!” the young girl shouted back.


  “Annabelle! That is such a beautiful name,” said Danielle with sadness in her voice.


  “Thank you! I’m named after my grandmother,” Annabelle said.


  “Would it be possible to go inside and talk to your parents?” Danielle asked.


  “My parents are not home, but I can take you to Aunt Sarah.”


  “I would appreciate that. I think your aunt might be able to help me with what I’m looking for.”


  Annabelle held Danielle’s hand and led her inside the house. Two older men sitting under a maple tree stared in anguish as Danielle and Annabelle went inside the house.


  “Are you sure your aunt won’t mind you bringing a stranger into the house?”asked Danielle.


  Annabelle looked at Danielle with a great sadness in her eyes. “You are not a stranger,” she said.


  Danielle also felt a strange sadness as she looked into Annabelle’s eyes.


  An elderly African American woman rushed down the stairs. “Lady Katherine has come back!” she shouted.


  Annabelle ran up the stairs to meet the woman.“Nanny Agatha, she has returned just as you said she would!”Annabelle ran back down the stairs to the entrance where Danielle stood mesmerized and took her by the hand.


  Annabelle shouted as she and Danielle entered the house.“Auntie Sarah! Grandmamma! She is here!”


  Danielle was speechless as she stared at a painting of herself that hung on a wall in the center of the staircase.


  A man and woman, the one who had asked Danielle before if she had forgotten her name, stood at the center of the staircase, staring at Danielle. The brunette woman who had given her the hand mirror entered the room with a young boy. The woman approached Danielle and hugged her.“I’m so glad to see you, Katherine. I’ve always known you’d find your way back!”


  The young boy, who was about Annabelle’s age, walked up to Danielle. “Auntie Katherine, I’m so glad to finally meet you. I’ve been hearing about you all my life.”


  The man who stood next to the woman at the center of the stairs called to the young boy.“Jonathan! Help your Auntie Katherine to a chair.”


  Danielle was frozen in place and terrified. Her heart raced and she struggled to say something. The words wouldn’t come out of her mouth. Finally, she said loudly, “OK, all this is getting weird now! Who are you people? And why do you all insist on calling me Katherine?”


  The brunette woman took Danielle’s hands and looked straight into her eyes. “You really don’t remember me, sweetheart?” Her voice was broken and sorrowful.


  “I have a strange feeling that we’ve met before, but I don’t seem to remember where,” Danielle replied.“Would you please tell me where you know me from? And while you’re at it, please tell me why that woman in the painting that hangs on your wall looks so much like me.”


  The woman ignored Danielle’s questions and walked to the window. She looked at the two older men sitting under the maple tree and waved at them. They waved back and smiled. She turned to Danielle and said, “Those two gentlemen you saw under the maple tree and their young companion, who after many years of failed attempts to return to his time has finally lost his mind, should not be here. We had to confine their young companion to his bedroom to keep him from harming himself. They need to go back! They have been here for almost ten years, and that is a very long time to occupy a space and time in which they do not belong.”


  Danielle was agitated. Her heart was beating rapidly, and she was beginning to hyperventilate. “Go back where? I don’t understand what you are talking about.”


  Once again the woman ignored Danielle’s question.“Did he find you? Did you ever find each other, Katherine?”


  “Find who? Who and what are you referring to? And my name is Danielle—not Katherine! Would someone please tell me what’s going on here? What is the meaning of all this madness?”she screamed.


  She then felt two strong hands grabbing her shoulders and shouting her name.


  “Mrs. Lancaster! Are you all right?”


  Danielle opened her eyes, and one of the police officers from earlier that day stood in front of her, shaking her by the shoulders.


  Danielle realized that the woman, the young girl, and the house had vanished right before her eyes. She stared at the officer in shock.


  “Officer, did you see the house that was here a moment ago? Did you see the two older men sitting under the maple tree? Please tell me that you heard the woman say that the man tied to the bed and the two gentlemen needed to go back. What did she mean by that?”


  “Ma’am, I can’t say that I heard that. But calm down. All is going to be all right.”


  “Please, don’t! Don’t treat me as if I’m crazy. I’m telling you I saw a house here. There was also a young girl, an older woman, and some other people who acted as if they had known me from before.”


  The officer discretely observed her strange behavior and attentively listened to her bizarre story. He looked at her, and with a pleasant tone of voice, he said, “I’m sorry, ma’am. I’m sure there’s a logical explanation for what you are experiencing.”


  “Thank you for not treating me as if I were mentally unstable, officer.”


  “Please, call me Zack, Mrs. Lancaster,” he said.


  “Only if you call me Danielle,” she said with a smile.


  “All right. Danielle it is. So, Danielle, prior to moving here, you’d never been to New York?” Zack asked.


  “No, the first time I set foot here was the day my husband and I moved back.”


  Zack looked at Danielle with perplexity.


  “Why do you look so confused?”she asked.


  “You said, ‘moved back,’ as if you had lived here before.”


  “I meant my husband moved back, and I came with him. Well, you know what I meant!”


  Zack looked at her and smiled. “I have to get going now. Do you want me to follow you home?”


  “No, thanks. I’ll be OK.”


  Danielle began to walk toward the exit of the cemetery, and Zack walked right behind her. Danielle was still a bit nervous and confused. She bumped against a tombstone and almost fell, and Zack immediately held her by the waist to prevent her from falling.


  “Are you OK, Danielle?” asked Zack.


  But Danielle did not answer; she was stunned as she looked at the name that was engraved on one of the headstones. Zack noticed that Danielle was staring at the headstone and became concerned. His first thought was that she was again experiencing one of those strange visions of hers.


  Danielle suddenly grabbed Zack’s hand. “Read the name on the stone aloud for me, please. I want to make sure I’m not imagining.”


  “OK, I will,” said Zack, “but please calm down. Katherine Montgomery 1816 to 1840.


  Beloved wife and mother. Why are you so upset about a name on a tombstone that is a hundred and fifty years old?”


  “I don’t know why,” said Danielle in a broken voice.“Let’s get out of here, please.”


  When they reached the cemetery’s main gate, Zack took a card from his wallet and handed it to Danielle. “Here is my number if you should ever need someone to talk to. Please, don’t hesitate to call me.” He walked away.


  Danielle ran after him.“Wait! There is something I’ve been meaning to ask you since we met this morning.”


  Zack turned back. “What is it, Danielle?”


  “When we first met this morning, there was something about the way you looked at me that intrigued me.”


  Zack looked uncomfortable. “Oh, I’m sorry. I didn’t mean to stare. You look so much like someone I met a few years back.”


  Danielle smiled. “I see. Judging by the astounded look on your face, I’m guessing she was someone special to you.”


  Zack also smiled. “No, not really. I only saw her once, but the circumstances in which I met her are still fresh in my memory. Other than her name, she did not remember anything about herself.”


  Danielle was curious. “What was her name?”


  Zack hesitated for a moment.“Katherine,” he said.


  Danielle was stunned when she heard the name. “That’s the same name on the tombstone, and it is also the same name the women in the house called me! This is so strange. Why am I having visions of people who existed one-hundred and fifty years ago?”


  “I’m sure that’s pure coincidence,” said Zack. But then again, he thought that there was a strong possibility that Danielle was the same woman that he and his partner found roaming in the park without a memory ten years ago. I have to be careful until I know what is really going on here, he thought.


  Danielle stared at Zack. “Are you OK? You spaced out for a moment there.”


  “I’m good! I was just thinking about everything that is happening to you.”


  Danielle nodded her head in agreement.“I know it’s all very strange, but I’m kind of used to strange things happening to me by now.”


  Zack acted surprised by Danielle’s comment.“What do you mean by that?”he asked.


  Danielle realized she shouldn’t have said that, especially now that Zack seemed to believe her. If she told him about the persistent dreams she had had for the past ten years, he might even think that she was mentally unstable, just as his partner did that morning.


  Danielle tried to change the subject.“Oh, it’s nothing. I was just trying to keep the conversation going.” She laughed.


  Zack could see in her eyes that there was something she was afraid to tell him. “Don’t worry about it. You don’t have to tell me anything if it makes you uncomfortable. But I want you to know that for some strange reason, I feel obligated to help you get to the bottom of all this.”


  Danielle was relieved by Zack’s comment.“Have I persuaded you to believe me?”


  “You most certainly have!” Zack said. “If it’s all right with you, I would like to meet sometime and talk some more.”


  Danielle was suspicious of the officer’s sudden interest.“Sure. I have your number. Why don’t I give you a call later on this week?”


  “That sounds good to me,” Zack replied.“I’ll be expecting your call.”


  They said their good-byes and drove their separate ways.


  Chapter 3


  Early Sunday morning, Danielle went up to the attic and brought the painting down. As she was descending the stairs, she heard a loud noise coming from the dining room. Danielle became nervous because she knew she was alone in the house; Shane had left early in the morning for Washington, DC, for a medical conference, and he would be there for a week.


  Danielle rushed down the stairs, leaned the painting against the wall, and headed toward the front door. As she was about to walk out the door, a woman shouted her name.


  “Mrs. Lancaster!”


  Danielle turned around, relieved to see the face of her cleaning lady. “Arianna, what are you doing here on a Sunday morning?”


  Arianna had been cleaning the house for Danielle every Friday since they moved to New York. But Danielle knew her before that. Arianna was the housekeeper for Shane’s father for five years, and she worked for him until the time of his death.


  “Ah, Mrs. Lancaster, did you forget? I called you and asked if I could come today instead of Friday,” Arianna replied with a heavy Brazilian accent.


  Danielle was embarrassed by the confusion. “I’m sorry, Arianna. I had so much on my mind that I did in fact forget. You mentioned something about picking up your mother from the airport. How is your mother doing?”


  “My mother is not doing so well,” Arianna replied. “That is why I decided to bring her here to stay with me. She has not been doing well since my father passed away last September.”


  “I’m so sorry to hear that your mother is having a hard time,” Danielle said. “I’m happy to hear that she has you to rely on. Please let me know if there is anything I can do to help you.”


  Arianna’s news about her mother saddened Danielle.


  “Thank you, Mrs. Lancaster. But why have you gotten so sad all of a sudden?”


  Danielle cleared her throat. “I don’t know,” she answered in a low voice. “I just get very sad when I realize I’m all alone in this world.”


  “But you are not alone in this world. You have Mr. Lancaster, who happens to adore you,” Arianna said, trying to cheer her up.


  “I know that I have my husband, and I know that he loves me, as I love him. But I have no one who is of my blood in this world. My husband has his sister and her children. He also has aunts and uncles. He has lots of cousins whose blood run through his veins. He will never be alone in this world.”


  Arianna was saddened as well after listening to Danielle speak. She hugged Danielle, and they cried together.


  “Please forgive me, Arianna,” Danielle said.“I made you cry with all my sentimental blabbering.” She forced herself to laugh.


  “I should thank you.” Arianna laughed. “I was long overdue for a good cleansing of the soul. Now I feel renewed and ready to face the world or resume my cleaning duties, whichever comes first.”


  They both laughed. Arianna picked up the feather duster and went back into the dining room.


  Danielle picked up the painting and went into her husband’s study. She took a painting down that hung behind her husband’s desk and replaced it with the painting she had bought at the yard sale. She stared at the painting for a long moment. The man in the painting seemed so familiar. She was consumed by nostalgia for somewhere—or maybe someone. She did not know why an image in a painting, which seemed to be dated over a century before her time, made her feel so strange inside.


  She took the painting back down and placed it on the leather couch. She decided to leave it there until she could find the perfect place in the house to hang it. As Danielle ascended the stairs, she heard the doorbell. She then descended to open the door.


  “Hello, Julia. Come on in, please.”


  “Hello, Mrs. Lancaster,” said Julia. “I see Arianna has started without me.”


  “She came in very early,” said Danielle. “I didn’t think you were coming today since you always come together.”


  “I went to church first,” said Julia, “and I’m glad I did, for if I had not gone, I would have missed out on one of the strangest sermons my Brazilian ears have ever heard. I have indeed listened to a few weird sermons, but this one tops them all.”


  Julia was Arianna’s cousin. She and Arianna had been cleaning houses together for a year. By working as a team, they were able to clean a few houses a day without sacrificing the quality of their work. Their good reputation gained them many stable, happy clients.


  Danielle became a little curious about the context of the sermon that had Julia so agitated. “What was the sermon about?” she asked.


  “My church had a guest pastor from a different state, but if you ask me, I say he was from a different planet. The preacher sounded normal at first, but then he started talking about how he had travelled one-hundred fifty years from the past to look for a man and a woman who had also travelled from his time to our time. He showed the congregation a wedding portrait of the couple to see if anyone recognized them. The odd thing was that the portrait seemed to be vintage, according to Brother Joseph who happens to be an expert on antiques. Sister Thelma claims that she knows the man in the portrait from somewhere but can’t recall from where. I did not get the chance to look at it myself because our pastor called the guest preacher into his office before he got to my side of the room. They were there for a long time, and then the preacher left through the back door. Our pastor just asked the congregation to pray for the poor man, who according to him was suffering from a mental breakdown.”


  “Poor man,” said Danielle.“I can only imagine the circumstances that drove his mind to create such a delusion.”


  “Yes, poor man indeed,” said Julia. She then went to the dining room to help Arianna, and Danielle went upstairs to her bedroom.


  Chapter 4


  On Monday morning, Danielle brought the painting to school with her and showed it to her students. She asked them what they thought of it. One of her male students said that the man in the painting was a lawyer who had just lost his first case and that he was writing to tell his father, who was also a lawyer and his mentor. Another male student said that the man in the painting was a businessman who made a bad investment, lost his fortune, and decided to end his life.


  A female student said, “I agree with the part that he has decided to take his life, but it wasn’t because of a bad investment. It was because he was scientist who discovered a way to travel back and forth into the future. After traveling twenty years into his future, he saw that he was still a lonely soul with nobody who loved him and nobody to love. As a result, he decided to end his meaningless life on his return.”


  Danielle felt a deep sadness, and when her students asked her opinion about the painting, she said, “I think he was a very passionate man who was very much in love with a woman who has prematurely departed from his life.”


  The students all talked simultaneously, arguing about something. Danielle asked them what they were arguing about.


  One of the students asked, “Mrs. Lancaster, if you were given the opportunity to choose a time period to live in, what would be your choice?”


  “If I had the chance, I would joyfully choose the mid-1800s.”


  “Why?” a student asked.


  “Because back then, life seems to have been less complicated, love was more than just an empty word, and romance was lived more intensively.”


  The class remained silent while Danielle spoke, focusing their attention on every word that she said. When she finished speaking, she realized all eyes were on her.


  The janitor, who had been listening from outside the classroom door, was also looking at her. He was in his early thirties, tall with wavy black hair. She looked at him, and she had a distinct feeling that she knew him from somewhere.


  She became a little embarrassed when she realized the things she had just said. But fortunately for her, the class period was over, and the bell saved her.


  The janitor, whose name was Cornelius, waited outside the classroom door until her students were gone. Cornelius was a bit shy. He walked in and said, “Excuse me, Mrs. Lancaster. Could I please have a word with you?”


  Danielle was mesmerized as she stared at Cornelius. She found herself thinking of the Greek god Adonis. Cornelius was wearing navy-blue overalls, which suited his robust body very well. To Danielle, he was simply breathtaking.


  Danielle was somewhat curious and nervous at the same time. What could this stranger possibly want to talk to me about? She then realized that he was impatiently waiting for an answer. “Sure,” she said as she moved things across her desk, pretending to be occupied. “How may I help you?”


  Cornelius spaced out for a short moment. He was stunned by Danielle’s beauty. She wore a delicate violet summer dress, which made her green eyes sparkle. Her radiant skin, and her slender silhouette captivated all his senses. He had seen her earlier sitting in the teachers’ lounge but not at this close proximity. He was nervous. His heart was racing, and his hands were shaking and sweaty. Cornelius cleared his throat. “Do you mind if I take a seat?”


  Danielle gestured with her hand toward a chair. “Yes, please. Go right ahead.”


  Cornelius nervously began to speak.“I know that what I am about to say will sound strange and somewhat crazy to you, but I beg you, please hear me out before jumping to any conclusions.”


  As soon as she heard the words come out of Cornelius’s mouth, Danielle immediately got up from her chair. “Please, leave my classroom.”


  Cornelius was confused by Danielle’s sudden reaction. “Please, give me a chance to explain myself,” he said.


  “I don’t care to hear any explanation from a total stranger. Please leave now, or I’ll have to call security,” she said in a firmer tone.


  Cornelius got up from his seat still begging Danielle to hear him out. “Mrs. Lancaster, I think we know each other from before. Just hear me out for a minute, and if after that you still want me to leave, I promise to leave immediately.”


  “Sir, I don’t know you, and honestly, you are giving me the creeps!”she said.


  Danielle reacted this way because she did not understand why she had such strange feelings for someone she had just met.


  “Have I offended you in any way?”he asked.


  Cornelius was not about to leave without saying what he came there to say. “I’m sorry, Mrs. Lancaster. I should have introduced myself first. My name is Cornelius. I’m the school janitor. I’m sure you have already made that observation from my uniform.”


  Danielle realized that she had overreacted and immediately apologized. “Please, forgive my rudeness. I honestly don’t know what came over me. I’m usually more polite,” she said with a soft smile.


  “There’s no need for an apology. I perfectly understand your reaction. I’m the one who should have to apologize,” he said.


  Danielle smiled and asked him to take a seat. As Cornelius slowly sat down, he looked straight into her eyes—those same sparkling eyes that had haunted him every night in his dreams for the past ten years.


  He nervously cleared his throat again, and despite the nervous feeling he had inside, he managed to begin the conversation. “Mrs. Lancaster, when I first saw you this morning sitting in the teacher’s lounge, a strange sense of déjà vu came over me. I felt as if I had known you before. Please, forgive me if my words sound in any way disrespectful to you. I can assure you that it is not my intention to do so, and quite honestly, I believe this is much too deep to really put into words.”


  He continued, “I’m almost certain that somewhere in a different period and time, our lives were somehow connected. I know this sounds crazy, and I don’t even know where all this is coming from. All I know is that we knew each other from before, but you and I definitely know that in this lifetime, we did not meet until today.”


  Danielle did not know what to say. What could she possibly say when she knew that everything Cornelius had just said made perfect sense because that’s exactly the way she felt about him? Still, she refrained from making any comments to him.


  She got up and walked toward the window where the painting was and discreetly glanced at it. She walked back to her desk where Cornelius sat nervously. Danielle found herself staring into Cornelius’s penetrating dark brown eyes. She finally realized that he was the man in the painting.


  Danielle wondered if he could possibly be the same man she saw in her dreams. Was he the man whose face she never got to see? In her dreams, when his face was about to be revealed, she woke up in anguish and with an immense heaviness in her soul. For the past ten years, Danielle had had the same vivid dream. She saw herself being dragged out of what seemed to be her home in the middle of a cold winter night by a man she profoundly loved.


  This man, instead of loving and protecting her, had violently yanked her out of her bed, and without any compassion, he had thrown her out of the comfort of her home on a bitterly cold winter night. Was it possible that the same man from her dream, who had humiliated and abandoned her without remorse, was now sitting right in front of her?


  Cornelius was anxious to know what Danielle thought about everything he had just said. But Danielle was frozen in her chair; she couldn’t say a word. She just looked at him as though she had seen a ghost.


  Cornelius got up from his seat and walked over to Danielle. “Please, don’t look at me with such terror,” he said softly. He moved closer to her and reached for her hand, but she pushed him away.


  “Please leave.”


  As he walked toward the door, he turned back and said, “I did not intend to make you uncomfortable or scare you in any way. This situation is very strange for me as well.


  I might not show it, but deep inside, I’m terrified.”


  Danielle kept her head down and made no effort whatsoever to speak to him. She acted as though she did not have the slightest interest in anything he had to say.


  Cornelius left Danielle’s classroom and resumed his work, but he couldn’t stop thinking about this weird situation he was dealing with. He found himself thinking that maybe Danielle was hiding something. What can I possibly do to get to the bottom of this nightmare I’m experiencing? he wondered. I should tell Mrs. Lancaster about my life. Maybe if she knew that I was found ten years ago wandering the streets without any memories, she would open up to me and tell me what she knows. Cornelius was under the suspicion that Danielle knew something about their past, and she did not want him to find out about it.“Hey, that’s it!”he shouted aloud.


  Mr. Smith, the math teacher, was passing through the hallway where Cornelius was mopping and talking to himself, and he rushed toward him. “Young man, why are you shouting? Are you OK?”


  “Oh, it’s nothing,” Cornelius replied. “I just thought I saw a mouse.”


  “That’s all we need! An invasion of those dirty creatures in our school,” said Mr. Smith as he continued to walk to his classroom.


  Cornelius resumed mopping, and as he did, he thought, if I have no recollection of my life before the past ten years, then the only logical explanation is that Danielle and I met before I lost my memory. That makes sense. But if that’s the case, why doesn’t Danielle recognize me? What if she’s only pretending not to know me? Whatever the outcome may be, I need to know.


  Cornelius was determined to learn the truth, so he dropped the mop and rushed outside before the last bell rang. He waited for Danielle to come out. When Danielle finally came out of the building, she was having a hard time carrying the painting along with her bag and some books. Cornelius, who was watching her from his car, felt very tempted to walk up to her and help her. But he knew that wasn’t a good idea. When she began to drive away, he followed her.


  Chapter 5


  Danielle arrived at her house without even noticing that she had been followed. Cornelius parked his car a few houses before hers.


  As soon as Danielle was inside her home, she hung the painting on the living room wall. The nail she used was too thin for its weight, and the painting fell. She bent down to pick it up and noticed an old, faded envelope sticking out from the back of the painting.


  “This look like it’s been here for years,” she said. “Whoever inserted this envelope in the back of this painting really wanted to make sure that its existence remained concealed.”


  She carefully removed the envelope, and as she held it in her hands, she thought about whether or not she should open it and read it. “I don’t know why I’m debating with myself about this. Technically, this is my envelope because it came out of my painting,” she said. Without any further hesitation, Danielle opened the envelope.


  Inside the envelope, she found two long double-paged letters. One was from Katherine to Cornelius, and the other one was from Cornelius to Katherine. She opened the one that was addressed to Katherine, and she noticed the date at the top of the letter was December 12, 1839. She became nervous, and her hands began to shake.


  According to the letter, Cornelius had looked for Katherine at Reverend Miller’s house, and the reverend told him about his time-traveling device, which he had kept a secret from everyone except his wife, Sarah, and Katherine, whom he loved like a sister. Reverend Miller told him that Katherine had helped him and his wife test the device many times and that she used the knowledge she acquired to send herself several years into the future. For some reason, Katherine had left the device behind, although she knew that without the device, she could never return to the year 1839. The letter stated that Cornelius asked the reverend to send him into the future to find his wife and bring her back. The reverend warned him that it would be very risky, but Cornelius’s determination persuaded him.


  Reverend Miller arranged everything, and he told Cornelius to find an artist who could paint a portrait of him while writing a letter to his wife, Katherine. He told him that he needed to pour his entire soul into that letter, so that when Katherine saw it, she would perceive all the love and the pain he felt that very moment. Reverend Miller also reminded him that they would need to have the painting with them to return to the year 1839.


  As Danielle continued reading, there were tears in her eyes. She wanted to understand why everything seemed so real to her, and she hoped she would find the answer somewhere in the letter.


  The letter also said that Cornelius’s mother, Elmirah, never liked the reverend or her daughter-in-law Katherine. One night she waited up for her son to return from a business trip. She told him that in his absence, the reverend and Katherine had had an affair. She swore to her son that she saw them together in a very suspicious and compromising position.


  Everything that she said to her son was just a cruel lie; she never saw anything of the kind. An ungodly woman like Elmirah would say and do anything that would serve her evil purposes. She had been instigating problems for Katherine since the first day she met her. Elmirah had manipulated Cornelius all his life, but everything changed when he met Katherine, who swept him off his feet. Against his mother’s will, he married her.


  Elmirah never forgave Katherine for her son’s defiance. She swore that she would not rest until Katherine was out of her son’s life. Cornelius listened to his mother’s lies, and in a jealous rage, he went up to the bedroom where his wife was sleeping and dragged her out of the house in the middle of a bitterly cold winter night. How sad it was that Elmirah’s intrigues had more power over Cornelius than the love he felt for his wife! Humiliated and shamed, Katherine stood outside her house, begging her husband to let her in.


  When Danielle finished reading the letter, she was in shock. She did not know what to make of everything she had just read. It couldn’t be a coincidence that the person who the letter was addressed to had the same name that the lady in the house had called her.


  That janitor’s name is Cornelius—the same name as the man who wrote the letter! she thought. Could it be that I’m the Katherine from the letter? If I am her, why don’t I remember it? Maybe this other letter has the answer I need.


  Danielle was about to open the second letter, the one addressed to Cornelius, when she heard a knock on the door. She got up and went to answer it. She looked through the peephole and saw that the person at the door was Cornelius. Danielle was nervous, and she anxiously wondered how the school janitor had found her address.


  Cornelius knocked once more, and since he wasn’t getting an answer from Danielle, he shouted, “I know you’re in there because I followed you home!” He continued, “I want you to know that for the past ten years, I have seen you in my dreams! I see myself dragging a woman out of her bed and violently throwing her out on the street in the middle of the night. Up until a moment ago, I did not know who the woman was because in my dreams, I was never able to see her face.


  “As I waited anxiously outside of your home, trying to gather up the courage to knock on your door, I had the dream again. This time I was awake. The dream came like a vivid memory of the past, and you were the woman I was dragging out in anger, but underneath the anger, I also felt a profound love burning inside me. I loved you immensely,” he said softly.


  After listening to his speech, Danielle opened the door. Cornelius came inside, and when he looked at her, he noticed the tears in her eyes. He, too, began to cry.


  Danielle tried to talk, but she was trembling so much that it was hard for Cornelius to understand her. “I also have had the same dream for the past ten years,” she said in broken words, still sobbing. “In my dreams, I see a man dragging me out of what seemed to be my home on a bitterly cold winter night. For some reason, I was never able to see his face. But today, when I saw you, something deep inside me made me realize that you were the man in my dream. I believe that you are also the man in the painting and the same Cornelius who wrote to Katherine, who I profoundly believe to be me.”


  “Slow down,” he said. “What are you talking about?”


  Danielle slowly bent down and picked up the painting that was still lying on the floor. She lifted it up and turned it to face him.


  Cornelius was mesmerized. He gazed at the image in the painting, which happened to be an image of himself.


  He turned to Danielle, still in shock. “Who are we, and where do we come from?”


  Danielle handed him the letter she had just read, the one he wrote to her back in 1839. “Please read it,” she said. “You will find your answer in there.”


  Cornelius sat down and began to read the letter. When he was done reading, he looked at Danielle. She was crying.“I’m so sorry,” he said softly. “I wish I could take back whatever wrong I did to you in the past. As I read this letter, I perceived that I really loved you. Whatever happened between us back then, we’ll find out when we learn more about how we got here. I know it has to do with this painting. We now know that we do not belong in this century, and we have to find the way back to our own time.”


  “We might never find our way back,” she said, “and it will be awkward from now on knowing that we shared a life together over one-hundred years ago. And worst of all, we have no memories of that life.”


  “I believe that the love between us was so strong that neither time nor space was able to change it. The proof of that is that even one hundred and fifty-one years into the future and with no memory to confirm it, our souls are still connected. Destiny has gone against the time barrier and managed to cause our lives to cross paths again.”


  Cornelius reached for Danielle’s shoulder in a desperate attempt to comfort her. At first, she tried to push him away, but as he got closer, she felt his breath caressing her neck and his arms wrapped around her waist. His touch did not feel in any way strange to her body. Driven by her repressed desires, Danielle slowly gave in to Cornelius’s touch, and she embraced him as his lips tenderly touched hers.


  Chapter 6


  Cornelius promised Danielle that they would find their way back. “To do that, we need more information about how we got here. Let me see that letter again,” he said.


  “No, let’s read the second letter instead. There might be more information there,” Danielle suggested.


  “What second letter?” he asked.


  “The one I have here,” she replied. “Go ahead and read it aloud.”


  Cornelius opened the letter and began to read it:


  My beloved Cornelius,


  When you receive this letter, I will no longer be in your life, but there are a few things I need to tell you before I’m gone forever. You have to believe me when I tell you that I love you and always will. I have never betrayed you, and I never will.


  That is why I need to tell you the truth about your family. Nathaniel is your brother. Your father and his mother were very much in love, but your grandparents disapproved of their love because Nathaniel’s mother was of a lower class. When they found out that she was with child, they sent him away, and when he came back, she had already married Adam Miller, a kind and honest man, who her parents had chosen for her.


  When your father returned and found out that Nathaniel’s mother had married, he was persuaded by his parents to marry a sophisticated, wealthy woman, who his parents had chosen for him long before.


  Your mother knew the truth about Nathaniel all along. That’s why she always hated him. And before your father passed away, he sent Nathaniel a letter in which he revealed the truth to him. In his letter, he said he left instructions to his wife, Elmirah, to divide the fortune equally between you and Nathaniel. But your mother decided not to do as your father requested on his deathbed.


  The reason I’m telling you all this now is because when I found out the truth from Nathaniel, I confronted your mother, and she did not deny it. Instead, she threatened me. She said that if I ever told you or anyone else about that matter, she would accuse Nathaniel and his wife of practicing witchcraft.


  I told her that no one would believe those lies about the reverend and his wife. They were honest and kind, and everyone in their community loved them, especially their congregation. After that incident with your mother, I went up to my room to wait for your return.


  But I was so tired that I fell asleep, and now I know that your mother waited for you and poisoned your heart with her lies. What hurts the most is that you believed her. When you threw me out of our home, Nathaniel and Sarah received me in their home. Just like they did before when my father passed away and my mother, Annabelle, and I were left on the street.


  Cornelius, that night I was impatiently waiting for you to tell you that I was with child. You never gave me the chance to tell you. That’s why now I have to think about what is best for our unborn child and must do the right thing.


  I know that if I stay, our child will suffer the consequences of your mother’s lies. So, I have decided to look for a different life for my child and myself.


  When Cornelius finished reading the letter, he asked about the child who was mentioned in the letter. At first Danielle was a little wary of telling him the truth about the child, but then she realized that to find their way back, they needed to trust each other.


  “I had a beautiful baby girl nine and a half years ago; she was born on a beautiful Fourth of July morning,” Danielle said as tears ran down her cheeks.


  “What do you mean had?” Cornelius asked.


  “She died a few hours after she was born. I only got to hold her in my arms for a few minutes. After that, I fell into a coma. When I woke up a week later, I was told she had died.”


  Cornelius cried as Danielle told him about the pain she suffered after the death of their child. “What was the cause of our daughter’s death?”


  Danielle was spellbound, and she stared at Cornelius. When he said “our daughter,” she realized that Shane had lied to her; he had made her believe that she had lost her memory due to a car accident fifteen years ago and that they had been married for two years prior to her pregnancy. So, she was led to believe that the baby girl who had died was actually the fruit of their marriage.


  “Danielle, what was the cause of our daughter’s death?” Cornelius asked again.


  “My husband, Shane, said she was born with a weak heart.”


  “Your husband?” Cornelius was in shock and could not say another word.


  Danielle noticed his reaction and said, “I did not know I was already married. I don’t remember anything about our life in the 1800s.”


  “I’m sorry. I did not mean to have that kind of reaction. Do you love him?”


  “Up until now, I thought I did. He has always been kind to me. But I’d always felt something was missing.”


  “Where is that impostor now?”he asked.


  “He went to a medical seminar in Washington, DC. He won’t be back for another week.”


  “Good. That will give us time to do some research on our lives in the 1800s.”


  “Cornelius, I suggest that we keep all this to ourselves until we know more. We have the painting, and we know the device that can take us back is somehow connected to it. I also suggest we go to the library and see if we can find more information about us and Nathaniel Miller and his wife.”


  “That’s a magnificent idea,” replied Cornelius. “Let’s go right now.”


  “It’s already very late,” said Danielle. “We’ll wake up early tomorrow morning, and we can go then. In the meantime, we need some rest and a little time to recollect our thoughts. If you want to, you can spend the night here with me.”


  Cornelius looked at her with a big smile on his face, and without any hesitation, he immediately agreed to stay and spend the night with her.


  Danielle noticed the grin on Cornelius face and said, “Don’t be getting any ideas with me. You will be sleeping on the couch, and I will sleep in my bedroom with the doors locked.”


  They both began to laugh. Afterward, she went into her bedroom to get a pillow and a blanket for him. She also found a picture of their daughter, and she handed it to him.


  “Was this my daughter?”he asked.


  “Yes, that’s our daughter,” Danielle answered.


  “She was beautiful,” Cornelius said as he gazed at his daughter’s picture with profound sadness. “What name did you give her?”


  “I named her Annabelle,” Danielle replied.


  “You named her after your own mother.”


  “Yes, I’ve always liked that name, and now I know why.”


  “Now we know why,” he said with a smile.


  Danielle said, “Well, it’s getting late, and we need to get some rest.”


  “Yes, I’m sorry,” said Cornelius. “Goodnight, Katherine.”


  “Goodnight, Cornelius.”


  Danielle walked toward her room, and suddenly, she turned back with a smile. “You called me Katherine,” she said.


  “That is your name,” he said. “Katherine Montgomery,” he added. “I’m Cornelius Montgomery, your husband.”


  Danielle was mesmerized when Cornelius called her Katherine Montgomery and then added that he was her husband. She walked back toward Cornelius in a trance, as if another woman had taken over her body and mind. Cornelius felt the same way and met her halfway. They passionately kissed for a long moment. He then slowly carried her to the sofa bed where he was supposed to sleep alone.


  Chapter 7


  When they woke the next morning, Danielle was filled with mixed feelings of guilt and happiness. She was also extremely embarrassed. Cornelius wrapped his arms around her and assured her that they had done nothing wrong. “We are husband and wife,” he said. “We might not be in our rightful time, and we might not remember the life we shared back then, but you and I know that we are man and wife. Last night, our bodies were simply expressing the hidden desires of our hearts.”


  Danielle smiled. “I know that, but please, let’s not talk about it anymore.” She then got up and went into her bedroom to get dressed. After eating a quick breakfast, they headed to the library. They were both anxious about anything else they might discover about their life in the 1800s.


  “We need to keep an open mind whatever the outcome may be, and we need to be realistic,” said Danielle. “Since we have no memory of our life in the past, whatever information we find here today has to be carefully considered before we go and make any final decisions that might affect not only our lives but Annabelle’s as well.”


  “What do you mean?” he asked.


  “Well, just think about it. If we can go back to the year 1839, Annabelle will still be in my womb, and most likely she will survive because I believe everything I went through contributed to her being born with a weak heart. And with what we know, now we can avoid the bad decisions we made that led to all this.”


  “I couldn’t agree with you more,” he said, “but for the moment, let’s do what we came here to do. We can deal with the outcome later.”


  They approached the librarian and asked if she could assist them. “Good morning,” said Cornelius, “I was wondering if you might be so kind and help us find some information in your archives.”


  The librarian was a tall, middle-aged woman. She had black hair and penetrating dark brown eyes. She gave Cornelius a warm smile and looked at him with tenderness. In a sweet tone of voice, she said, “Sure, just tell me what you’re looking for.”


  “We need information about some people from the 1800s. Well, 1839, to be exact.”


  “Do you have their names?” asked the librarian.


  “Yes, we do,” Cornelius replied.


  “Good. Let’s see what we can find, then.”


  The first name they gave her was Nathaniel Miller, but the librarian couldn’t find any information about him.


  “What other names do you have?”


  Danielle and Cornelius looked at each other. “Try Katherine and Cornelius Montgomery,” they said simultaneously.


  The librarian gazed at them for a moment. “I think I’ve heard those names before.” She searched in her files for a few minutes and said, “I’m sorry, but there is no information about the names you gave me in the archives.”


  Danielle was a little frustrated. “What else can we do?”


  “Well, we can try to narrow the search down. Do you know the state and the county in which they lived?”


  “We don’t have that information,” Cornelius answered.


  “I’m very sorry, but if you really want my help, you need to supply me with more information,” said the librarian. “If you think of anything else let me know.”She walked away.


  Cornelius and Danielle were frustrated. They didn’t know what else to do.


  But as they were about to leave the library, Cornelius asked Danielle, “Have you lived in New York all this time?”


  “No, I lived in Charlotte, North Carolina, for the past ten years, and before that, I have no memory.”


  “Well, I have lived here for the past ten years,” he said, “and before that, I have no memory, either. That can only mean one thing.”


  “What does it mean?”she asked.


  “It means that I lived here in Greene County in the state of New York in 1839. Let’s go and talk to the librarian one more time,” he said.


  Cornelius returned to the librarian and asked her to check the name Nathaniel Miller again.


  “OK,” she said. “Do you have the state and county?”


  “Yes, the same state and county we are in now.”


  “Greene County, New York?”she asked. The librarian searched the county archives for the mid-1800s.


  In an old newspaper clipping, she found Nathaniel Miller’s name. “Ah, let’s see what’s in here,” she said. “It’s from the year 1870. You two go ahead and read it while I look for more information.”


  Cornelius and Danielle looked for any information that might help them.


  “Oh! Look here,” Cornelius said to Danielle. “Nathaniel and Sarah founded a Christian school that burned down five years later. It says that three people died, including Ruth Miller, Jonathan Miller’s wife…oh, I can’t read the rest,” he said. “This newspaper is all torn and faded.”


  The librarian found one more newspaper printout about Nathaniel Miller. It was from the year 1880.


  “Let’s see what this one says.” Cornelius began reading the newspaper. “Danielle, read what it says here! It says that ‘Nathaniel Miller passed away at the age of sixty-five. He was survived by his son, Jonathan Miller, and his grandson, Timothy Miller.’ They don’t mention his wife. She probably passed away before him. She could have been one of the people who passed away in the school fire in 1870.”


  “Yeah, she probably did,” said Danielle in a sad tone of voice. She imagined that it must have been a very painful death. When Cornelius looked at her, she had tears in her eyes.


  “Are you OK, Danielle?” he asked.


  “I don’t know. I just feel a deep sadness inside, as if I have lost someone very dear to me.”


  “I feel the same way,” Cornelius responded. “We have read every piece of paper concerning Nathaniel Miller, and we still haven’t found what we need.”


  The librarian overheard his comment, and she said, “I have only been in town for a few years, but Mrs. Elisabeth Seymour—the librarian before me—she lived here all her life. She can probably help you find whatever it is you are looking for. Let me give her a call and ask her if she could meet with you.”


  “Thank you,” said Cornelius. “We really appreciate all the help you’ve given us today.”


  “It’s my pleasure,” replied the librarian. “Just give me a moment. I’ll be right back.”


  “I hope she can convince Elisabeth Seymour to meet with us,” said Danielle.“I’ve got the feeling that this woman is going to be of great help to us.”


  “There comes the librarian now,” Cornelius said.“Try to control your emotions. She might think that we’re weird and refuse to give us Elisabeth’s number.”


  “We are weird,” said Danielle. “Or do you think this is normal? That two complete strangers who just recently met are now looking for information about a life they allegedly shared together more than a century ago?”


  “I know all this sounds crazy,” he said. “But we owe it to ourselves to get to the bottom of it.”


  Danielle replied, “If not for us, then we need to do it for Annabelle. Here comes the librarian.”


  “I spoke to Elisabeth, and she agreed to see you this afternoon. She asked what your names were. I don’t think either of you gave me your names before. Since you didn’t give me a name, I told her it was Katherine and Cornelius. I remembered you gave me those names to look up in the archive.”


  They looked at each other and smiled. Simultaneously, they said, “Those are our names.”


  “I don’t understand,” said the librarian. “You guys wanted information about yourselves from the mid-1800s?”


  “Well, it’s a little complicated,” Danielle said. “I wish I could tell you more, but I honestly can’t.”


  “I understand,” said the librarian. “When you can’t, you can’t. Well, anyways, here is Elisabeth’s address. She’ll be expecting you this afternoon.”


  “Thank you for everything, Mrs.—I’m sorry, but I’ve just realized that you haven’t given us your name,” said Danielle.


  “It’s Elmirah,” said the librarian.


  Danielle and Cornelius looked at each other in shock when they heard the librarian’s name. Cornelius stared at the librarian with profound sadness; he was overtaken by an unexplainable feeling of nostalgia.


  Danielle became very nervous and impatient. “We need to get going now. Once again, thanks for everything, Elmirah.”


  “Good-bye to you both,” she replied.“I hope you two find what you are looking for.”


  When Danielle and Cornelius left, the librarian became suspicious of the strange reaction they had when she told them her name. “There was something weird about that couple,” she said to herself. “Where do I know them from? Especially the young man. I had a strange feeling inside every time I looked at him.”


  Chapter 8


  Cornelius and Danielle arrived at Elisabeth’s house late in the afternoon. The day was hot and humid. Elisabeth was sitting by herself on her front porch drinking a cold glass of freshly squeezed lemonade with a handful of slightly mashed raspberries, a hint of freshly ground mint leaves, and a few drops of fresh ginger juice. This was an old family recipe that originated from back in the 1800s with Elisabeth’s great-grandmother Anne, who got it from an African American woman by the name of Agatha, who served as the nanny of the previous house owner’s only son.


  When Elisabeth saw Cornelius and Danielle from a distance, she waved at them.


  Elisabeth was in her late seventies, plump, and very charismatic.


  “Oh, that must be Elisabeth,” Danielle said. She waved back at her.


  Elisabeth’s house was a beautiful three-story Victorian house. The exterior was painted a deep gray with a lighter shade of gray around the edges. It was embellished with a tower, and the roof was high and steep. It also had gables in different directions. The front of the house was surrounded by a beautiful, spacious rose garden and a few scattered maple trees.


  Danielle felt very strange inside. Something about that house made her feel very sad and scared. But she tried to hide her feelings from Cornelius by pretending to be excited.“That’s a beautiful house from the outside. I can’t wait to see the inside,” she said.


  Cornelius remained quiet. He was stunned looking at the house. It was déjà vu all over again for him. The first time he had déjà vu was when he first saw Danielle sitting in the teacher’s lounge.


  “Why are you so quiet?”Danielle asked.


  “I have a strange déjà vu about this house. It’s like this house is somehow connected to me. Like my history hides in it,” he said.


  “I feel the same way,” Danielle replied.


  They got closer to the house and walked toward Elisabeth.


  “Hello, there. You must be Katherine and Cornelius,” said Elisabeth.


  “Hello, Elisabeth,” Danielle said. “Thank you for receiving us in your home today.”


  “It’s my pleasure,” replied Elisabeth. “Please, have a seat. Would you like some lemonade? It’s an old family recipe,” she added.


  “I would like that very much,” said Danielle. “Thank you.”


  “I’ll have some, too,” said Cornelius.


  Elisabeth poured each a glass of lemonade and handed the glasses to them. She waited for them to start drinking the lemonade, but neither did. “Don’t be shy. Drink up! You both must be very thirsty in this hot weather. You have to keep yourselves hydrated.”


  They both smiled and began to drink their lemonade. Cornelius was the first to take a sip from the glass. “This lemonade is quite delicious!” He took a second sip. “The taste is very familiar. I know I’ve had this before,” he said.


  Danielle also took a few sips of the lemonade. “This is truly delicious! I know this taste.”


  “You can’t possibly have tasted this lemonade before,” said Elisabeth. “This is an old family recipe that has been passed on from generation to generation. My daughter, Mary, and I are the only ones who know the recipe. Mary made this fresh pitcher minutes before you two arrived here.”


  Danielle and Cornelius were both embarrassed. “I’m sorry, Elisabeth,” said Danielle. “Cornelius and I both got a little carried away with the delicious taste of your family recipe.”


  “Please, don’t feel bad. I’m happy that you both liked it so much. Would you like some more?”


  “Yes! Thank you, Elisabeth,” Cornelius said.


  “I would like some more, too,” said Danielle.


  Elisabeth poured lemonade into each of their glasses and then put the pitcher down.


  “So, Elmirah told me you were searching the archives for information from the 1800s.”


  “Yes, ma’am, we were,” Danielle answered.


  “Why so far back?” she asked.


  “We need information on some people who lived during that period,” she replied.


  “What is the purpose of your inquiries?” Elisabeth asked.


  Danielle placed the lemonade glass on the table, “Elisabeth, I don’t mean to be rude to you, but we can’t tell you why, and even if we did, you would not believe us.”


  “Ms. Danielle, if you and the gentleman here want my help, then I suggest that you both tell me the truth.”


  “I don’t know if that would be a good idea,” Cornelius said.


  As they were talking, Elisabeth’s daughter, Mary, came out of the house and suggested that the group should go back inside before it started raining.


  “Yes, let’s go inside the house,” said Elisabeth. “We can talk there some more.”


  Mary rolled Elisabeth’s wheelchair inside. When Danielle was about to enter the house, she began having flashbacks. She fell on her knees and started banging on the door. “Let me in, Cornelius!” she screamed repeatedly.


  “What is wrong with her?” asked Mary.


  “Nothing. She’ll be OK,” Cornelius said as he tried to calm her down. “It’s OK, Katherine. I’m right here with you.”


  She hugged Cornelius. “Everything felt so real.”


  “What felt real?”Elisabeth asked. “Wait—don’t say anything just yet.”She asked Mary to leave the room.


  “Now, tell me what’s going on.”


  “All right, we will tell you, but first you need to tell us everything you know about this house,” said Cornelius.


  “This house has been in my family for over one hundred years,” said Elisabeth. “My great-grandfather purchased it from a woman who disappeared right after selling the house to him. One of the woman’s servants, who was the nanny of the woman’s son, continued to work for my great-grandparents. She told my great-grandmother, Anne, that the poor woman lost her mind after the sudden disappearance of her only son.”


  “That’s all I will tell you for the moment. I have a friend who also lived here all her life. If you are who I suspect you are, I will take you to her because I know that she would be able to help you. But first, tell me what this is all about.”


  Cornelius and Danielle both smiled.


  “Please, don’t take what I’m about to say as disrespectful,” said Cornelius, “but I honestly doubt that you can possibly suspect who we really are.”


  Elisabeth was becoming a little anxious. “Please, stop beating around the bush! And tell me already,” she said in a firm tone.


  “All right, Elisabeth. What we are about to tell you might sound crazy, but please give us the benefit of the doubt,” said Danielle. “We believe we are from the mid-1800s, and we need to find our way back to that time.”


  Elisabeth was surprised but not shocked. She rolled her wheelchair toward Danielle. “Please, don’t go any further,” she said.


  “I warned you that it would sound crazy,” said Danielle.


  “No, that doesn’t sound crazy at all,” said Elisabeth. “As I told you before, I already had a suspicion of who you were. But let’s not get into it now. Please come with me to my friend Ruth’s house. She will tell you everything you need to know. She’s the one you should be talking to.”


  Cornelius approached Elisabeth. “I suspect that your friend Ruth is not the only one to know the truth to our origins. You know the truth, too. I beg you. Please, tell us!”


  Danielle too begged Elisabeth to tell them what she knew. “We have been tormented with visions we don’t understand for the past ten years. Please, help us. Don’t make us wait any longer.”


  Elisabeth was touched by Danielle’s plea. “You poor child. You must be so scared. I can’t even imagine what you’re both going through. But don’t be scared. I will help you both. I can’t tell you all I know because it is not my truth to tell. Ruth will answer all your questions. She is somehow connected to your origins.”


  Cornelius and Katherine both begged her to tell them something, but Elisabeth did not budge.


  Danielle and Cornelius did not hesitate to accompany Elisabeth to Ruth’s house. On the way there, Cornelius asked Danielle, “Wasn’t Ruth the name of Jonathan Miller’s wife?”


  “Yes, I believe it was,” she replied.


  Chapter 9


  When they arrived at Ruth’s house, Danielle stared apprehensively at the captivating two-story Victorian house with wood siding. The house had a wraparound porch, and it was painted a deep green shade with soft gray around the edges. It was surrounded by maple trees. It was no doubt the same house from her visions at the cemetery.


  Once inside the house, Danielle was in shock as she stared at the paintings that hung at the center of the staircase. One of them was the painting of herself that she had seen in her vision at the cemetery. The other painting was of the man and the woman who stood at the center of the staircase in her vision, and one was of the young boy who called her “auntie.” There was one painting that she did not recognize of a young man who resembled the young boy.


  Elisabeth introduced them. “This is my best friend, Ruth.”To Ruth, she said, “This is Cornelius and Katherine. I believe you have been waiting for them all your life.”Cornelius and Danielle did not understand what Elisabeth meant by that. They just looked at each other in amazement.


  Ruth looked at them in disbelief and with tears in her eyes. She said, “I cannot even begin to comprehend the role that destiny plays in our lives.” Then she hugged them and said, “I’m so glad you found each other.”


  “How is it that you know about us?” Danielle asked.


  “I’ve known about the two of you all my life,” she said. “My great-grandfather was Reverend Nathaniel Miller. He was an alchemist, and he invented a time machine.” That is how you both got here. He kept a diary, and he wrote everything about his invention and the people who dared to travel through time by it. He also wrote about Cornelius being his half brother. That makes you my great-granduncle, Cornelius,” she added. They all laughed.


  “That diary was passed down to my grandfather, Jonathan Miller, who passed it down to my father, who finally passed it down to me. I was beginning to believe that everything was just a fairy tale.”


  “What can you tell us?” Cornelius asked.


  “Well, I can tell you why neither one of you can remember anything about your life before.”


  “Why can’t we remember our life the 1800s?” he asked.


  “You did not protect the part of your brain that controls your memory. My great-grandfather discovered that a few years after you were both gone.”


  “Mrs. Ruth, is there a way to go back to our time?” Danielle asked.


  “Yes, the instructions are written down in the diary. But there is something missing.”


  “What is missing?” Danielle asked.


  “The time machine itself. Well, the original one, actually, because the second time machine was destroyed by my great-grandfather along with all the time traveling information he had. The only one that survived was the one Cornelius traveled through. Cornelius was the only one who knew where it was, but he never came back to Nathaniel.”


  “Why did Nathaniel create a second time machine?” Cornelius asked.


  “You brought the original one with you to return to the year 1839.”


  “I don’t remember where it is,” Cornelius said.


  “That means we will remain stuck in the 1990s,” Danielle said. “I don’t understand why Nathaniel had to destroy the second time machine; he had to know that by doing so, he ruined our only chance to go back.”


  “My great-grandfather was afraid that if it fell into the wrong hands, the future could be altered, and irreparable damage could be caused. He did not want to be responsible for any negative changes in the future. When my great-grandfather saw that you and Cornelius never made it back, he analyzed his theory to understand what went wrong.


  “That is when he discovered that in order for the memory to remain intact during time traveling, the part of the brain that controls the memory had to be protected. He then realized that the reason you both had never returned was because you had no memory of the life you left behind. He immediately started to build a new time machine. But this time, he also built a brain protector. It took him five years to finish it, and when he did, he tested it on himself.”


  “Do you mean he traveled through time?” Cornelius asked.


  “He did indeed. He tested the device himself,” Ruth replied. “He first traveled to the year 1980 to try and find you both, but unfortunately, he had no luck. After looking for more than a month, he went back to his time. He also travelled to this year but had no luck, and once again returned to his time. But not before investigating whether or not he had any descendants.


  “When he found out that I existed, he did not approach me because he feared he might scare me. He instead decided to travel to 1895 to visit his son Jonathan Miller and then to 1910 to visit his grandson Timothy Miller, my father.


  “My father told me he was very excited when he saw his grandfather because when he died, he was only a child. But all through his life, he had heard so many great things about him. Great-grandfather Nathaniel told my father, Timothy, about my existence in the future, and he asked him to make sure I knew about his invention so that I, too, would be on the lookout for Cornelius and Katherine in the future.


  “He also said that once he got back to his time, he would destroy the time machine and every piece of evidence related to it except for his diary, where he wrote everything that happened since the time machine was invented.


  “He wrote instructions for your return. He asked my father to keep the house in the family because he would leave the diary and three brain protectors for their return.”


  Danielle was curious about why Nathaniel decided to leave three brain protectors. “Who was the third brain protector for?”


  “He knew you were expecting when you left,” Ruth said. “By the way, what did you have?”


  Danielle remained quiet for a moment. She did not know if she should tell them that her daughter died a few hours after she was born. “I had a beautiful baby girl, but she died a few hours after being born. I named her Annabelle.”


  “I’m so sorry for your loss,” said Ruth. “You named her after your mother?”


  “I believe that unknowingly, I did name her after my mother.”


  “There is something else you both need to know,” Ruth said, “especially Cornelius.”


  Cornelius became worried. “What do I need to know?”


  “Your mother, Elmirah, is also here in 1990.”


  “How did that happen? I thought you said Nathaniel destroyed the time machine.”


  “He did, but she got a hold of it before Nathaniel got the chance to get rid of it. When you and Katherine disappeared without leaving any trace, your mother got very suspicious, so she started to investigate. Everything led to my great-grandfather Nathaniel.


  “At first, she thought that, because of the lie she told about Katherine and Nathaniel, you went to confront him, and he had killed you. When Nathaniel saw how devastated she was by your disappearance, he felt the need to tell her the truth to ease her pain. Even after all the bad things she had done, she was also a mother suffering for what she believed to be the loss of her only son.


  “After learning the truth, she cried, and Nathaniel went to get her a glass of water and left her in the room by herself. She went into his study, and there she saw the device Nathaniel had spoken of. She immediately took advantage of the opportunity, and somehow, she managed to turn the device on. She already knew the year into which Cornelius had traveled, and she entered it into the device.


  “Elmirah did not know about the brain protector or that she needed to take the device with her to return to her time. When Nathaniel returned to the room where he had left Elmirah, he noticed that she had used the time machine and had sent herself into the future. He was angry with himself because if he had destroyed the device as soon as he came back from visiting my father, Timothy, in the year 1910, none of this would have happened.


  “My great-grandmother, Sarah, told him that if he wanted to live a life without further regrets, he needed to destroy the device immediately. That very night, Nathaniel and Sarah destroyed the time machine.


  “Nathaniel had two arriving locations in the memory of the second machine: his house and Elmirah’s house. He did not know at the moment that Elmirah had sold her house.”


  A sudden nostalgia for a mother he did not even remember permeated Cornelius’s heart. “Where is my mother now?”


  “She is the librarian you met today,” Elisabeth said.


  “Have you told her anything about her past?” he asked.


  “No, we did not think it would be fair to her since she would never be able to go back. And besides, she is very happy here. She adapted well to our time.”


  “Cornelius and Katherine, you both need to focus on finding the time machine. That is, if you really want to go back to your time,” Ruth said.


  “We do want to go back,” Cornelius said, “but where do we start looking for the machine?”


  “Oh, well, Nathaniel’s diary states that you brought it over with you,” Ruth replied.


  “Yes, but I don’t remember anything except that ten years ago I was found in a park wearing funny clothing. When the police officer asked me who I was, all I remembered was my name, Cornelius Montgomery.”


  “I don’t remember where or how I arrived here, either,” said Danielle. “But I think I know someone who might.”


  “Is that someone the imposter you call your husband?” Cornelius asked.


  “Shane definitely knows something, but I know he is not going to tell me. He told me a bunch of lies; he even lied about my name.”


  “Then whom else are you referring to?”


  “Officer Zack,” said Danielle.


  “Officer Zackary Jones?” Cornelius knew that name. He was the officer who found him when he crossed the time barrier ten years ago.


  “I don’t know his last name,” said Danielle, “but he told me about this woman who he found roaming in the park ten years ago. He said the only thing she remembered about her life was her name, which happened to be Katherine. I remember that when he first saw me, he was surprised to see me. When I asked him about it later that day, he said that I looked a lot like that young woman. Now I understand why my husband was so nervous when he mentioned he brought that woman to his clinic.”


  “I know that we need to focus on finding the time machine,” Danielle said, “but today has been a very busy day for all of us, and I am exhausted. Maybe it would be better if Cornelius and I went home to rest. Tomorrow our minds will be much clearer, and we will be able to focus on finding it.”


  They all agreed with Danielle about being exhausted and needing rest, but Ruth thought that it would be better if they spent the night at her house.


  Danielle politely declined Ruth’s offer. She wanted to be home when Shane called to say goodnight. Shane was in the habit of calling her every night when he was out of town. Danielle did not want to raise any suspicion.


  They said their good-byes, and Cornelius accompanied Danielle to her house. He left her at her door and said goodnight. Cornelius was in a hurry to get to his apartment because he suddenly remembered that his girlfriend, Sabrina, was waiting for him there.


  Chapter 10


  When Cornelius arrived at his apartment, the first thing he noticed was a suitcase in the center of the living room.


  Sabrina came out of the bedroom. She looked like she had been crying all night. “I was worried sick about you,” she said. “I thought something bad had happened to you. I even called all nearby hospitals. Where have you been?”


  “I’m sorry that I worried you so much, and I’m very sorry, but I won’t be able to tell you where I was. My life is very complicated right now. And my future is very uncertain. I don’t want to drag you into my problems.”


  She looked at him with anger and said, “If what you wanted was to break up with me, all you needed to do was say so. There was no need to put me through this anguish and humiliation.” She picked up her suitcase and left.


  Cornelius was upset about breaking up with Sabrina because even though he knew he did not love her the way she loved him, he really cared for her. Cornelius took a shower and went straight to bed. The next morning when he got up, he called Danielle and asked her if they could meet at his house. From there, they would go to Ruth’s house.


  When Danielle arrived at Cornelius’s home, he was already waiting for her outside. When he was about to get into Danielle’s car, Sabrina pulled over in her car. She was furious when she saw Danielle, and she yelled at Cornelius, “Is that woman the reason you broke up with me?”


  Cornelius tried to calm her down, but Sabrina was not listening to anything he had to say.


  She became even more furious and hit him with her handbag.


  Danielle got out of her car and tried to reason with her, but that only made things worse.


  Sabrina took off her shoe and started banging on Danielle’s car window with it. When Danielle tried to stop her, she pushed her away. Danielle fell to the ground and hit the back of her head on the edge of a cement brick on the ground.


  “What have you done?” Cornelius screamed at Sabrina. As he lifted Danielle’s head, he saw blood. Cornelius got down on his knees and held Danielle’s body in his arms. He checked her pulse, and she was dead. Sabrina stood there in terror, staring at Danielle’s dead body. Cornelius’s neighbor saw what had happened through his window and immediately called the police.


  When the police arrived, Sabrina was pacing back and forth with her hand on top of her head as if she had lost her mind. Cornelius was holding Danielle’s body tightly against his as he cried. The officer handcuffed Sabrina and put her inside the car. The neighbor told the police everything he had seen and heard.


  The police asked Cornelius if there was someone they could call to be with him. He gave them Ruth Miller’s number, and then he gave the police his statement and went inside his house because he didn’t want to see the ambulance take Danielle’s body away.


  Ruth and Elisabeth rushed to Cornelius’s house. They were devastated when they heard of Danielle’s death.


  Ruth tried to console Cornelius as he cried. “Everything will be all right,” she said. “I know that this might not be the right moment to talk about your return to your time, but under the circumstances, it is the only chance you and Katherine have.”


  “You cannot seriously think that in spite of all that’s happened I can still go back. I know I loved Katherine, and even though I have no memories of that love, I can feel it deep in my soul. But she’s dead now! Why would I want to go back without her?”


  “You can’t give up the idea of going back to your time. You don’t belong in our time. It’s unnatural. And I’m sure that deep inside you know it, too; besides, you have to think about your daughter, Annabelle.”


  “Annabelle has no chance now. Not after Katherine’s tragic death.”


  “Not if we move fast and find the device,” Elisabeth said.


  “How would that help now? All of our hopes have been shattered by Katherine’s death.”


  “Just listen to what she has to say.” Ruth persisted.


  “OK,” said Cornelius. “But I can assure you both that whatever it is she wants to say will not make sense anymore.”


  Ruth asked Elisabeth to share her thoughts with them.


  “Thank you,” she said. “I think that if we find the time machine, Katherine’s death can be prevented.”


  Cornelius was in shock. “Oh, my God! Why didn’t I think of that? That’s a great idea! I’m sorry for being so rude and negative before.”


  “All we need to do is find it,” Elisabeth said.


  “You say that as if it were the easiest thing to do,” said Ruth.“You forget that we don’t know where the device is.”


  “We will find it, and we won’t rest until we do,” she replied.


  They all sat down in Cornelius’s living room to analyze Nathaniel’s diary, which Ruth had brought along.


  When they got to the part where Cornelius was sent to the year 1980, Ruth said, “This part I know it by heart. It talks about the painting where the time machine was carefully hidden.”


  “What?” Cornelius almost choked on a sip of water. Ruth immediately got up to assist him. She helped him back to his seat and made sure he was all right. “I’m all right,” he said, “but why didn’t you mention the painting before? If you had mentioned it, then Katherine would be alive right now. She had the painting at her house all this time.”


  “Oh, my goodness!” Ruth exclaimed.“I don’t know why I didn’t think about telling you where the time machine was hidden. How did the painting end up with Katherine?”


  “I don’t know,” replied Cornelius. “All I know is that the painting was a portrait of me and that there were also some letters hidden somewhere in the frame of the painting. That’s how we know about our life in the past.”


  “We need to get the painting right now,” Elisabeth said.


  “But how are we going to get inside Katherine’s house?” Ruth asked.


  “That’s not a problem,” Cornelius said.“She kept a spare key underneath a flowerpot. I saw her place it there yesterday when we left for the library.”


  “What are we waiting for? Let’s go and get that painting,” Ruth said anxiously.


  The three of them headed to Danielle’s house. When they arrived, Cornelius found the painting and handed it to Ruth. “Where is the device hidden?” he asked her.


  “The diary said it was on top of the frame on the left-hand side.”


  When Cornelius lifted the frame, there it was. All three of them were astonished by the small size of the time machine. It had just enough space to enter the year they wanted to travel to.


  “OK, what’s the plan now?” Cornelius asked, looking at Elisabeth.


  “The plan is to send you back to yesterday. When you and Katherine go to Ruth’s house, you will mention the painting to us because only you will have a memory of what happened today. You will also leave the device behind so that even after you go back in time, the device will remain where it belongs.


  “That’s the safest way to do it. Just in case something goes wrong, we can undo it or prevent it. You need to avoid the circumstances that lead to Katherine’s death. That way, we can send you and her back to the 1800s.”


  “OK, let’s do it,” he said.


  “Not just yet,” said Ruth. She remembered that the brain protector must be worn to retain memories. “The brain protector is at my house. Let’s go there and bring the device with us. We can do everything from there. Who knows? It might help since everything began at my house over a hundred years ago.”


  Elisabeth was concerned about where the device would be if they took it to Ruth’s house. “If we bring the device with us, wouldn’t that mean that when Cornelius travels back to yesterday, the device would be at Ruth’s house instead of in the painting’s frame at Danielle’s house where it belongs?”


  “I don’t think yesterday would be affected in any way,” said Cornelius. “When I go back, everything would be where it originally was.”


  Cornelius grabbed the device, and they headed to Ruth’s house. Once there, they found the brain protector and proceeded to send Cornelius back to the day before.


  Chapter 11


  Everything went according to plan. Cornelius had successfully gone back to the day before with his memory intact. He started the day the same way as before. He was very careful not to change anything that would interfere with him meeting Ruth all over again and therefore saving Danielle’s life. But no matter how hard he tried, he couldn’t block the moment he watched Danielle die from his mind.


  “This will be the longest day of my life,” he said. Cornelius did exactly what he had done the day before, and he made sure nothing changed. But it was hard for him when he saw his mother, Elmirah, again. This time he knew that she was his mother and had been stranded in a time that was not her own, all because of him.


  Still, he was able to control his emotions. The day progressed nicely with no problems. At Ruth’s house, Cornelius anxiously waited for the right moment to mention the painting.


  When Danielle said, “I know we need to focus on finding the time machine,” Cornelius immediately interrupted her.


  “Danielle, you have the time machine. It just hit me! The letter said that to come back to the year 1839, we need to bring the painting with us.”


  “Yes, that’s right,” said Danielle. “Why didn’t we realize that before?”


  “That’s exactly where the diary said the time machine would be,” said Ruth.


  “We need to get that painting immediately,” Cornelius said.


  “Today has been a very hectic day, and I’m really exhausted,” Danielle said.“I think it would be best if we went home and rested. Tomorrow we can meet here, and I can bring the painting with me.”


  “I agree with Danielle,” said Ruth. “We can all use a little rest. I would ask you to spend the night, but that would only delay the process of sending you back to your time since you have the device at your place.”


  “We need to get going,” Danielle said.“I want to be home when Shane calls. I don’t want to make him suspicious.” Danielle asked Elisabeth, “Would you like for us to give you a ride home?”


  “No, thanks,” she said. “I’ll spend the night here with Ruth. You guys head on home, and please try to be here early tomorrow morning.”


  Cornelius drove Danielle home, and on his way there, he realized that if he did not go to his house, Sabrina would not meet Danielle and therefore would not kill her. Once they arrived, he asked her if he could spend the night.


  “Don’t you want to go home and change your clothes?” she asked.


  Cornelius was embarrassed by Danielle’s comment.


  Danielle looked at him and extended her hand. “Come on in. I was just kidding.”


  Cornelius felt a tremendous relief, as if a heavy weight was taken off his shoulders.


  Inside, Cornelius and Danielle began to talk about what the consequences of returning to their time would be.


  “We have a very delicate and difficult decision to make,” said Danielle. “I don’t think we should rush into going back to our time until we analyze every aspect of our options and the consequences they could bring.”


  “I couldn’t agree with you more,” he said, “but what are those options?”


  “Well,” said Danielle, “we can go back to the year 1838 instead of 1839so we can warn Nathaniel of the danger of his time machine and convince him to destroy his invention.”


  “What makes you think he will listen to us?” Cornelius said.


  “Well, we could show him his diary, which we will take with us as proof, and I also want to take the newspaper clipping that talks about the fire where his wife, Sarah, lost her life. He will compare the clipping to what he wrote in his diary about the circumstances that surrounded her death, and he will have no doubt afterward. He would also recognize his handwriting. Best of all, Nathaniel will have the information to prevent Sarah’s death…”


  “I don’t know if giving him the diary is such a good thing after all,” said Cornelius.


  “Why would you think that?” Danielle asked.


  “Because that would also mean that Nathaniel would have knowledge of his own death.”


  “What do you suggest we do instead?”


  “I think we should remain in the year 1990. If we go back to the year 1839, not only would we have to tell Nathaniel about his death and his wife’s death, but we also would have to live with the memories of the ten years we lived here. The worst part is that you would have vivid memories of the birth of our daughter, Annabelle, and the knowledge of her death.”


  “I have been giving this a lot of thought, too,” said Danielle, “especially the part about our daughter, but I’m certain she will not cease to exist because nothing would change the fact that she was actually conceived. The only thing that would change is her birth period.”


  After saying that, Danielle sat in silence. She was upset because the conversation was leading to the possible nonexistence of Annabelle, and she was not willing to let anything or anyone jeopardize that.


  Danielle abruptly got up from the sofa where she sat next to Cornelius, and she looked straight into his eyes. With a firm tone of voice, she said, “We will go back to the year 1838, or I won’t go back at all. No matter which way we decide to go, our future has already been altered. But if we travel back to 1838, our daughter’s life would be saved, and in the end, that’s all that really matters to me. My priority is to see her alive, and I strongly believe that by going back to 1838, we’ll be doing just that.”


  Chapter 12


  The next morning, Cornelius picked up the painting, and he looked in the exact place where the device was. Danielle asked him how he knew exactly where to look.


  “I don’t really know. I just knew it was there.” Cornelius couldn’t tell Danielle that he was reliving the day because if he did, he would also have to tell her about her tragic death. Cornelius was very anxious to leave, but Danielle was taking her time.


  “We need to be on our way,” he said. “Ruth and Elisabeth are expecting us early this morning.”


  Danielle grabbed the key to her car, but Cornelius insisted on taking his car instead. He had the feeling that if they took her car, the same outcome as before might be triggered, and Danielle would end up dead. He convinced her to ride with him, and they stopped for gas on the way.


  As he was filling up his tank, he saw a car that looked a lot like Sabrina’s car from a distance. When he finally realized that in fact it was Sabrina’s car, he panicked.


  Oh, dear Lord, this is not happening! What am I going to do to avoid Danielle’s tragic death from happening all over again? He immediately stopped the pump and hurried into his car.


  “What’s wrong?” asked Danielle. “Why are you so nervous?”


  “It’s nothing,” he said.


  Danielle noticed Sabrina heading their way, waving her hands and calling for Cornelius.


  “I think that woman is trying to get your attention,” said Danielle.


  “She might be trying to get someone else’s attention because I definitely don’t know her,” he replied nervously.


  “No, it’s definitely you she’s calling,” Danielle insisted. “Let me find out what she needs.”


  Cornelius was about to drive off, but Danielle got out of the car. Sabrina was hysterical, yelling at Cornelius, who was grabbing Danielle and trying to get her inside the car to protect her from Sabrina. That only made things worse because when Sabrina noticed Cornelius’s interest in Danielle, she pushed her away from him with such force and anger that Danielle fell to the ground and hit the back of her head. She died instantly.


  Once again, Cornelius watched her die. He got down on his knees and desperately cried as he held Danielle’s body against his own.


  Sabrina stood nearby in total shock, looking at Danielle’s dead body until the police came and took her away. Cornelius couldn’t understand why Danielle had to die again when everything was going according to plan.


  Cornelius said to himself, “If I had stayed back in the 1800s, none of this would have happened! I have to travel back and prevent this tragedy again!”


  One of the police officers overheard his comment and turned to his partner and said, “This poor man is beginning to lose his mind from the terrible shock.”


  “I know,” said the other officer. “When the ambulance was taking the woman’s body away, he was shouting incoherently. Something about preventing her from dying.”


  As the officers were still talking, another officer arrived on the scene. “Hello, guys! Have you got everything under control here?”


  “Yes, Officer Jones. We were just about to take the gentleman to the station to give his statement.”


  When Cornelius heard the officer’s voice, he immediately recognized it. He got up from the ground and walked up to him. “Officer Zachary Jones!”


  The officer looked at him and immediately recalled that night ten years ago when he found him on the streets. “Cornelius? Is that you, buddy?”


  “Yes, sir,” said Cornelius sobbing. “I’m so glad you still remember me.”


  “Is the victim related to you?”


  “She is my wife, Katherine, sir. I’ve just found her, and now she is dead!”


  “I’m so sorry for your loss, Cornelius.” Officer Jones asked one of the other officers to hand him the report. He was saddened when he read the name of the woman. “I know this woman,” he said as he looked at Cornelius. “Her name is Danielle Lancaster. Her husband’s name is Dr. Shane Lancaster.”


  Cornelius looked at him with tears in his eyes. “No, sir, that’s my wife, and her name is Katherine Montgomery. We traveled through time ten years ago from the year1839.”


  Officer Jones put his hands on his head. “My God! As crazy as that sounds, I believe you. The morning that I met Danielle, she was having some visions about a man being tied to his bed in a house that supposedly was in the graveyard across from the park. And come to think of it, that’s on the same street where I found you ten years ago, Cornelius!


  “I also remember that earlier on the day that I found you, Danielle was sitting in the park across from the graveyard. She did not know where she was or how she got there. I asked her name, and she said it was Katherine Montgomery. I took her to Lancaster’s clinic, and when I went back to check on her the next day, Dr. Lancaster Jr., who we know as Danielle’s husband, said that her family came for her.”


  “Officer Jones, I will travel back to today and prevent Katherine’s death, but when I do, the only person who will remember what has happened here today is me. Before I do that, I would like for you to help me find some information about Annabelle Lancaster’s death.”


  “Who is she?”asked Zack.


  “She was my daughter. Katherine was pregnant when she arrived in 1980, but the child died a few hours after birth.”


  “Let’s go the station. I’ll be able to pull that information from there.”


  “Thank you for believing me, Officer Jones.”


  “I was the one who found you both when you crossed the time barrier. I don’t think that was a coincidence,” he said as they entered the car. “And please, call me Zack.”


  “Zack, you didn’t have to believe me, and you did. Thank you again!”said Cornelius.


  Once they arrived at the station, Officer Jones began to search for information about Annabelle’s death. “Where else has Danielle lived since her arrival in the year 1980?” he asked Cornelius.


  Cornelius smiled. “Well, as you already know, Katherine lived here in Greene County, New York, for a very short period after her arrival. She then moved to Charlotte, North Carolina,” he said.
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  Two hours later, Officer Zack got all the information he needed.“Cornelius, there were no death certificate reports filed in New York or in North Carolina for an Annabelle Lancaster.”


  “But Katherine said she died hours after her birth!”said Cornelius.


  “Apparently, the doctor lied to her. He can explain it to us when he arrives. He is on his way back from Washington, DC.”


  “You called him? No! Why did you have to go ahead and do that? I need to prepare for traveling back to today to prevent Katherine’s death. His presence here might create a problem.”


  “He is her husband. I had to inform him of his wife’s death.”


  “No. You and I know that’s not the truth. I’m her husband!”


  “You are her husband in the 1800s,” said Zack. “But in 1990, he is legally married to her.”


  “You are right. I’m sorry. I didn’t mean to get so upset.”


  “I understand,” Zack replied.
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  Six hours had passed, and Cornelius was still at the police station. Shane finally arrived. Officer Jones took him to his office, and after giving him the details of his wife’s death, he introduced him to Cornelius. Shane was not surprised when Cornelius told him about him and Katherine being husband and wife in the 1800s.


  He told him he knew the truth from the start. The day Katherine arrived at his clinic, he suspected she wasn’t from his time. He said that there was something different about her—the clothes she wore, the way she spoke, and especially the strange handbag she held against her chest as if her life depended on it. He also told him that the next day, when she was still asleep, he looked inside the bag and found a letter that was dated 1839. It was addressed to her mother, Annabelle Johnson.


  In that letter, she told her mother about her pregnancy and the circumstances that contributed to her decision to travel into the future. She promised her mother that if the child was a girl, she would name her after her mother. Something must have gone wrong that prevented Katherine from leaving the letter behind for her mother.


  “That brings us to our next question, Dr. Lancaster,” said Zack.


  “I know what you’re going to ask,” Shane immediately responded.


  “How is it that there is no record of Annabelle’s death?” asked Cornelius.


  “That’s because she is not dead,” replied the doctor.


  “What did you do to her?” shouted Cornelius.


  “She is back in the 1800s with her grandmother. Two of my former college professors and their nephew, who were all scientists, had been working on a time traveling experiment years before Danielle arrived. I went to them with the information I got from Danielle.”


  “Don’t you mean Katherine, Doctor?” Zack asked sarcastically.


  “All right, I went to them with all the information I gathered from Katherine. They were astounded by the information and anxious to try their own invention.


  “They wanted to travel back to the year 1839 and meet the great Nathaniel Miller, but they decided to travel to the year 1840 instead. They thought Annabelle should be in the year in which she would have been born if her mother had not travelled into our time period. I saw the opportunity to send Annabelle back to her rightful time and took it. My friends traveled back in time with her, but something must have gone wrong because they never made it back to our time.”


  “Are you telling me that my daughter is somewhere lost in time?” Cornelius was devastated.


  “No, Cornelius, I’m certain your daughter is where he says she is,” Zack offered.


  “How can you be so certain?” Cornelius asked.


  “Because a few days ago, Danielle crossed the barrier of time somehow. And she met and talked to Annabelle and also to a woman who acted as if she had known her from before. She also mentioned seeing two older men there and a younger man tied to a bed. She said that the woman in the house said that those men needed to go back.”


  Shane approached Cornelius and said, “I’m sorry for everything you and Katherine had to go through. I’m sorry for sending your daughter back. I honestly believed she and her mother belonged back in their own time.


  “I was planning on sending Katherine back as soon as she got better, but the professors never made it back. I had to give her an explanation. Telling the truth was not an option due to her lack of memory.


  “To be honest, I fell in love with her the first moment I laid eyes on her. And knowing she was alone in a time that was not her own, I wanted to protect her.”


  Cornelius was touched by the sincerity in Shane’s words. “I can understand your actions,” said Cornelius. “Thank you for taking care of her all these years.”


  They shook hands and said good-bye. Shane left the station, deeply saddened. Nothing seemed important to him anymore. All he wanted was to go home and mourn his beloved Danielle.


  Cornelius stayed at the station with Zack. He was waiting for Ruth and Elisabeth, who were on their way to the station to pick him up. When the two women heard the tragic news, they were profoundly sad. They could not believe the shocking truth.


  “What do we do now?” asked Elisabeth.


  “There is nothing for us to do now,” said Ruth. “Katherine’s death changes everything. I don’t suppose Cornelius wants to go back without her,” she said, looking at him.


  Cornelius took her hands and looked straight into her eyes. He whispered softly, “Let’s go to your house. There is something I need to tell you both.” On the way there, Cornelius reached into his pocket and pulled out the tiny device.


  “I will go back and prevent her death,” he said as he gazed at the device with tears running down his face. Ruth and Elisabeth stared at Cornelius with great sadness. They assumed that he was speaking out of grief.


  When they arrived at Ruth’s house, Cornelius told them that with their help, he had traveled back to prevent Katherine’s tragic death once before. Elisabeth could not bring herself to believe the marvelous truth. “The device really works!” she mumbled in disbelief.


  Ruth, on the other hand, was terrified because if what Cornelius said was true, and he traveled back before to prevent Katherine from dying, she died anyway. No matter how many times he traveled back in time to prevent her death, Katherine may be destined to die by Sabrina’s hands.


  Cornelius noticed Ruth’s silence. “Why are you so quiet, Ruth?” he asked.


  “It’s nothing,” she replied.


  “All right, then!”said Cornelius. “Let’s get started on sending me back to yesterday.”


  “I don’t think that’s the right thing to do now.”


  “Why not?” Cornelius and Elisabeth asked simultaneously.


  “Because by doing that, you’re just making Katherine, and also yourself, relive her death over and over again.”


  “So, what you are trying to say is that you believe that no matter how many times I travel back into the past to prevent her death, Katherine is going to die anyway?”


  “Yes, I’m almost certain that she is destined to die. And no matter what you do to prevent it, she will die by Sabrina’s hands. We might be able to avoid destiny, but I don’t believe we can’t cheat death.”


  “Cornelius, don’t let Ruth’s skepticism shatter your hopes,” said Elisabeth. She reprimanded Ruth for her insensitive way of sharing her doubts.


  “I totally disagree with you, Ruth,” said Cornelius. “I believe that if we know ahead of time what obstacles we might encounter, we can try to overcome them. And in this case, we have the advantage of knowing precisely what and who that obstacle is. I can understand your skepticism, Ruth. That is why I believe this time, you should come with me,” he said.


  “Do you honestly believe that taking me with you this time will make a difference?” she asked.


  “I’m almost certain it will. As you know, the first time, Katherine dies in front of my house as we are about to leave to bring the device to your house. Knowing that, I avoided the trip to my house the second time around by spending the night at hers. That way, we would go directly to your house instead.


  “We thought that by doing that, Sabrina would not have the chance to meet Katherine and therefore murder her. But for some unexplained reason, all of it was in vain. Destiny outsmarted us and led Sabrina to cross Katherine’s path once again.


  “But now we have the power to make it right. If we travel back to the day before, you will tell Katherine that you have the device because this time we will take it with us, and that very night, Katherine and I will return to 1839. I’m certain that if we return as planned, Katherine will not die by Sabrina’s hands.


  “Both times, she dies the following morning after meeting you and Elisabeth. That is why I believe that if your theory is accurate and Katherine is destined to die the following day after meeting you, then it is crucial for us to beat destiny by a day and travel back to the 1800s on the very day we meet.”


  “Your confidence has persuaded me,” said Ruth. “Elisabeth and I will assist you in any way we can.” Elisabeth was glad to finally see Ruth agreeing with them again. The three of them went over a few minor details before proceeding with their plan.


  “Ruth, I can’t emphasize enough the importance of our mission. Please keep in mind that once we go back, there is no place for any mistake on our behalf that can trigger the same tragic outcome for Katherine. Nothing can interfere with you meeting us. The day should go as it went previously—no changes whatsoever. And remember that we would be the only ones with any memory of everything that has happened here.”


  “Don’t worry about me making any mistakes,” said Ruth. “Everything will go according to plan.”


  They gathered everything they needed, and without further hesitation, they traveled one day into the past. Once there, they were both aware of their mission to save Katherine. The day was going exactly as planned, at least until they arrived at the library where Cornelius saw Elmirah once again.


  This time, Cornelius had a flashback of his childhood. In his flashback, he sat on his mother’s lap as she tenderly cuddled him and softly sang a lullaby. Cornelius became emotional, but he was able to control his emotions. After getting the information they needed, they were about to successfully leave the library.


  Unfortunately for Cornelius, as he and Danielle were about to head out the door, Elmirah rushed after them.


  “Young man! Wait, please!” she shouted as she walked toward them.


  Cornelius struggled with his emotions and desperately tried to leave, but knowing that the woman who desperately called was his own mother, who had been stranded in a time that was not her own because of her unconditional love for him, he couldn’t walk a step further.


  Cornelius turned around and walked up to his mother. “Were you calling me, ma’am?”


  Elmirah looked at him with profound sadness. “Have we’ve met before?” she asked in a soft, tender voice.


  Cornelius nervously laughed. “I’m just blessed with having a very familiar face.”


  “That must be it,” said Elmirah in a cynical tone of voice. But inside, she was emotional. She did not understand why she felt so sad and so happy at the same time when she met Cornelius.


  Elmirah was also suspicious about the information he and Danielle had requested. All through the day, Elmirah found herself speculating about Cornelius’s absurd response when she asked him if they had met before.


  Their dubious behavior contributed to Elmirah’s determination to investigate the matter. She picked up the phone and dialed Elisabeth’s home.


  “Hello,” said the voice at the other end of the line.


  “Hello, Mary,” said Elmirah. “May I speak to Elisabeth?”


  “My mother is at Ruth’s house,” said Mary.


  “Have you any idea when she’ll return?”


  “Yes,” replied Mary. “She’ll be back tomorrow morning. She called a few minutes ago to let me know she would be spending the night there.”


  “Oh, I see. Well, maybe you can help me,” she said. “I sent a couple to see her this afternoon. Do you know if they made it there?”


  “Yes,” said Mary. “They accompanied my mother to see Ruth. By the way, Elmirah, how did you know those people?”


  “They came to the library to do some research about a reverend and two other people who apparently lived here in New York in the mid-1800s. I figured your mother would be of more help to them since she has lived here all her life and her family can be traced back to the early 1800s. Why do you ask? Are you concerned about her safety?” Elmirah asked anxiously.


  “No, not really,” said Mary. “That couple seemed very nice. It’s just that I overheard them telling my mom that they believed they were from the 1800s.”


  “Oh, my goodness! That’s insane. What was your mother’s reaction to that absurdness?”


  “She took it quite calmly,” said Mary. “She asked them to accompany her to Ruth’s house so that she too could listen to what they had to say.”


  “I think you and I should go to Ruth’s house ourselves and find out what’s going on,” said Elmirah. “For all we know, those two could be escapees from a mental institution. Elisabeth and Ruth might be in a very dangerous situation right now.”


  “For God’s sake, don’t frighten me with your silly suspicions,” Mary replied.


  “I’m not trying to scare you. I’m just worried about Elisabeth.”


  “Now you made me worried as well. As soon as I hang up, I’ll head to Ruth’s house.”


  “I’ll meet you there,” said Elmirah.


  Chapter 13


  On the way to Ruth’s house, Elmirah had a vivid flashback. She had a long blue dress on, and her hair was set in a sophisticated style. She was dancing the waltz with a very handsome young man in what seemed to be a wedding celebration.


  The annoying sound of a loud horn and the shouting from other drivers brought Elmirah back to reality.


  “Move your car out of the way, lady! Don’t you see the ambulance coming through?”


  Elmirah immediately moved to her right to make way for the ambulance. She was terrified. She did not understand what had just happened to her. Now, more than before, she was anxious to get to Ruth’s house. She thought that maybe they could explain what those visions meant.


  At Ruth’s house, Cornelius and Danielle were preparing to travel back to the year 1839. Ruth and Elisabeth were debating on whether or not the diary should be returned to its original and rightful owner, Nathaniel Miller. They feared that if something went wrong and they somehow lost track of the diary, it would be virtually impossible to help Cornelius and Danielle again.


  Cornelius firmly believed that if they did not take the diary with them, Nathaniel would not believe that their time travel ever took place. “You should also take into consideration that once Danielle and myself return to our time, our existing in your time would never take place. Therefore, keeping the diary can seriously affect your future because once we return to our own time, the future would take its natural course, and neither one of you would have a memory of our existence because it would never have happened.”


  “I’m concerned about Elmirah’s existence,” said Elisabeth.


  “My mother will not have a memory of her life here. When we get back to our time, she will be there as if nothing happened. Danielle and I would be the only ones with knowledge of the truth.”


  “You are forgetting one important detail,” said Elisabeth.


  “What would that be?” asked Danielle.


  “Annabelle. What would happen to Annabelle?”she asked.


  “She will still be our daughter,” said Cornelius. “The only difference would be that she would be born in the same period she was conceived. It’s only natural for her life to take place in the year 1840, the way it was intended.”


  Cornelius noticed that Ruth had remained quiet all throughout the conversation. “Ruth, why are you so quiet?”


  “I’ve been thinking that maybe you shouldn’t return to the year1839.”


  “Why not?” he asked.


  “Because if you do, your mother will be stranded in our time forever. By the time you and Danielle arrive there, Elmirah would have probably found the device and traveled to our time. But if you go back to the year 1838 instead, you can destroy the time machine as soon as you arrive, and Elmirah’s travel into the future would have never happened.”


  “I totally agree with her,” said Danielle. “It makes more sense to travel back to the year 1838. Maybe we should postpone our return until tomorrow. We need more time to think things through.”


  “No!” said Cornelius and Ruth simultaneously. They became worried when she suggested that. They knew that if they waited until tomorrow, Danielle would most likely die all over again.


  “There’s nothing to think about,” said Cornelius. “We will return today to the year 1838.”


  Ruth immediately helped them put on the brain protectors, and Elisabeth changed the year on the device to 1838. They all hugged and cried as they said their good-byes.


  Suddenly, they heard the doorbell. “Who could that possibly be?” asked Elisabeth.


  “I don’t know,” replied Ruth. “But we need to hurry up and finish here.” She handed Danielle the diary, and Danielle immediately put it in her purse.


  Elmirah repeatedly and desperately continued to ring the doorbell. “Ruth, open the door! I know you’re in there. I just want to know if you and Elisabeth are OK.”


  They all became nervous once they realized that Elmirah was at the door. “We need to go now!”said Cornelius. Ruth handed him the device, and Cornelius and Danielle held on tightly to each other. Cornelius pressed the device. In a matter of seconds, Danielle and Cornelius went back to the year 1838.


  Chapter 14


  It was their wedding day, right when Cornelius was dancing the waltz with his mother. When he realized that he had successfully made it, he couldn’t contain his emotions, especially now that he could also remember his life in the 1800s. He hugged his mother and cried on her shoulder.


  Elmirah also hugged her son and whispered in his ear, “Son, you know that a gentleman always removes his hat when dancing with a lady, especially one as horrific as the one you are wearing.”


  Cornelius then remembered that he was wearing the brain protector, which Nathaniel had so ingeniously disguised as a black fancy hat.


  Elmirah also noticed that Cornelius was holding a small object in his left hand. “What is it that you are so mysteriously holding?” she asked.


  Cornelius immediately put the device in his pocket and said, “That’s a gift for Katherine.”


  Elmirah smiled. “I’ve noticed that you have been acting strange and glancing anxiously around the room for her for the past few minutes.”


  “I can’t hide my contentment from you, Mother,” he said. “You, Katherine, and Uncle Henry are the most important people in my life. That is why I want to plead for your true acceptance of my wife, and I beg you to stop giving Uncle Henry so much grief for truly accepting Katherine into our family.”


  Elmirah chuckled. “Son, you are the most important person in my life. I will always act in your best interest. Katherine has to prove to me that she is worthy of you. After all, she married into one of the wealthiest and most prestigious families in the State of New York, but you know that I’ll do whatever it takes to see you happy. I can see that sharing your life with Katherine makes you happy. I give you my word that from today forward, I’ll try my very best to get along with her. As for my brother Henry, I promise to patch things up with him. He is my only brother, and I love him dearly. I couldn’t be mad at him for long.”


  Cornelius was very happy to hear those words from his mother.


  “There is something very different about you today,” she said. “And I have the feeling that whatever it is it has nothing to do with the satisfaction of being finally married to the woman you love.”


  Meanwhile, on the other side of the room, Katherine talked with Nathaniel and his wife. Well, they were doing all the talking because Katherine was mesmerized, staring at them in disbelief.


  “Are you feeling all right, Katherine?” asked Sarah.


  “Yes, I’m sorry,” said Katherine. “I’m just very excited to see you both again and to be able to tell you that I love you and that you are both like the brother and sister I never had.” In tears, Katherine hugged them both.


  Sarah and Nathaniel looked at each other in shock. They did not understand what she meant when she said she was happy to see them again because ever since Katherine’s father passed away two years ago, she and her mother Annabelle had been living in their house.


  “You sound like you have not seen us in years, Katherine,” said Sarah.


  “I’m sorry. I’m just very nervous,” said Katherine.


  “That’s understandable,” said Sarah. “All brides get nervous on their wedding day.”Sarah suddenly noticed the beautiful white lace hat that Katherine was wearing. “That’s my grandmother’s hat you’re wearing,” she said. “That’s strange. I don’t remember seeing you wearing it until this moment.”


  Nathaniel looked at the purse Katherine held on her hand. “That is a very unusual lady’s bag!”


  Katherine anxiously said to them, “If I tell you where and how I got the hat and the bag, you will never believe me. All I can tell you now is that your invention worked!” As she was about to give them more information on the matter, she was interrupted by a sweet, familiar, masculine voice.


  “Katherine!” She turned around and saw Cornelius standing right in front of her. They rushed into each other’s arms and profoundly embraced and cried on each other’s shoulders.


  Cornelius walked up to Nathaniel, embraced him, and whispered softly into his ear, “You are my father’s older son, and I’m honored to have you as my brother.”


  Nathaniel was astounded by Cornelius’s revelation because other than himself, the only other person that knew the truth was Elmirah, and he knew that she would do whatever it took to keep it hidden from Cornelius.


  Nathaniel hadn’t even brought himself to tell his wife this secret, which was revealed to him only a few days before his natural father passed away. “Cornelius, how long have you known the truth?” he asked.


  “Let’s just say I learned the truth one hundred and fifty-two years from today.”


  Nathaniel was confused by Cornelius’s words. “You and Katherine are acting very strange,” he said.


  “We will explain everything to you once all the wedding guests leave, or rather, why don’t you and Sarah meet us here at first daylight tomorrow?”


  “Cornelius, we need to have that conversation with them now,” said Katherine. “If we wait until tomorrow, our future might be seriously jeopardized.”


  “What are you referring to, Katherine?” asked Sarah.


  But Nathaniel was beginning to understand what was going on. “Oh, dear God!” he said, nervously pacing back and forth.


  Nathaniel grabbed Cornelius by the shoulders. “Tell us what’s going on right this instant!”


  “All right!” said Cornelius. “I know that you are an alchemist and that you are afraid to let anyone, especially your congregation, know that you believe that traveling through time is possible. We are here to tell you about your stunning achievements.”


  “How could you possibly know about that? The only person whom I have shared my findings with is my wife.” He apprehensively turned to look at his wife.


  “Oh, my dear! Are you doubting my loyalty?”


  “No, of course not, my dear,” said Nathaniel.


  “I told him,” said Katherine. “One year from now, Nathaniel will confide in me, and I too will be a part of it.”


  “The time machine that I’m working on—I can’t seem to make it work,” said Nathaniel.


  “Believe me, it will work!” exclaimed Cornelius. “Katherine and I have traveled over one hundred years into the future using your device. We met your great-granddaughter Ruth Miller, and she helped us travel back to our time.”


  “I don’t know what to believe,” said Nathaniel.“Maybe you and Katherine just had a little too much wine.”


  “I believe them, dear,” said Sarah. “How else would you explain them having so much knowledge of your traveling device?”


  Katherine suddenly remembered that she had the diary in her bag. She got it out and handed it to Nathaniel.


  “We had the feeling that you might have doubts,” she said.


  Nathaniel recognized his diary immediately. “That is my journal,” he said.


  “Yes, that is your journal,” said Cornelius. “You wrote in there about your whole life and specified every detail of your discoveries.”


  Nathaniel was amazed by his handwriting and anxious to know more about his invention. He flipped through the pages nervously. When he read the part about his wife’s death, he was saddened.


  “What is it, dear?” Sarah asked her husband.


  “It’s nothing,” said Nathaniel. “I’m just a little overwhelmed by all this information.”


  But Sarah did not accept his explanation. She grabbed the diary from his hands, and as she did, a photograph, which was inside, fell to the floor. Sarah picked it up and was startled at the strong resemblance that the gentleman in the photograph had to Nathaniel.


  “Oh, dear, you really need to take a look at this,” she said. She handed the photograph to him.


  Nathaniel was also astounded when he saw the photograph. “Who is this gentleman who resembles me so strongly?”


  “I had no idea there was a photograph in there,” said Cornelius. He looked at it and said, “That gentleman is your grandson, Timothy Miller, and the young lady is his daughter, Ruth. When we met Ruth, she had already aged, but I still recognize her.” Cornelius then noticed that the photograph had a dedication. “You need to read the dedication,” he said as he handed the photograph back to Nathaniel.


  Nathaniel read the dedication aloud, “To my great-grandfather and grandmother, Nathaniel and Sarah Miller. Reading about your life and getting to know you both through your journal has been a wonderful experience. I feel very honored to be your descendant. As your descendant, I want to beg you to please destroy your invention. Innocent people will suffer because of it. Love, Ruth Miller, your great-granddaughter!”


  Nathaniel and Sarah were in shock. They stared at the photograph, and they were deeply moved by Ruth’s written plea; her words of wisdom truly touched their hearts.


  Cornelius broke the silence. “Nathaniel, we have to destroy this time machine.”He reached into his pocket and held the device in his hands.


  Nathaniel walked up to Cornelius and grabbed the device from his hands.


  “Be careful!” Katherine and Cornelius simultaneously shouted.


  Nathaniel was startled by their reaction and stood still.


  “You might trigger the starter on the device,” said Cornelius.


  “This is incredible,” said Nathaniel. “What right now is just a theory in my mind has already proven to be a fact in the future, and I’m seeing the fruit of my future invention before I actually invented it! How strange is that?”


  Sarah had always been very supportive of her husband, but this time, she teamed up with Cornelius and Katherine and tried to talk some sense into him. “Darling, we need to consider their suggestions to destroy the device and everything pertaining to it. Who better than them, who have seen and lived the damage caused by it, to know with certainty the danger of this unnatural object?”


  “Destroying the device is not an option!” Nathaniel firmly said.“Think of how much humanity can benefit from my invention.”


  “You fail to see the magnitude of your invention,” said Katherine. “This device can be used to destroy humanity in the wrong hands. It is our responsibility to prevent that from happening.”


  “I understand your concerns,” said Nathaniel. “But you both need to analyze things through my perspective. You and Katherine have unraveled the mystery of time traveling thanks to my invention; unlike me, you probably never even dreamed about it, and the thought of traveling through time never crossed your mind until you stumbled upon my invention.


  “I have spent most of my life searching even for the slightest possibility that would allow me to break the barrier of time. Traveling through time has been my lifelong dream. Now that the time has come for me to fulfill that dream, I’m not going to let the opportunity pass me by.


  “I’m not planning on traveling through time to make any changes to any event. I just want to see what the future looks like one hundred years from now.”


  “We can tell you that,” said Cornelius.


  “That would not be the same,” Nathaniel answered. “I want to have the satisfaction of experiencing it myself.”


  “All right, Nathaniel,” said Cornelius. “I know that nothing we say would change your mind, but from this day forward, my wife and I want nothing to do with your invention. I want you and Sarah to give us your word that no matter what happens, we will never talk about this matter ever again.”


  Nathaniel grabbed the Bible from the desk, and he and Sarah swore on the Bible never to talk to Cornelius or Katherine about his invention or anything to do with time traveling ever again.


  Chapter 15


  A year had passed since that promise was made. Katherine and Cornelius anxiously awaited the birth of their first child. Cornelius settled the problem with his mother about Nathaniel’s right to inherit half of their father’s fortune, and he also convinced his mother to accept the marriage proposal from Dr. Richard Zenger, an honorable man whom Cornelius admired and respected like a father. Katherine’s mother was also persuaded by Nathaniel and Sarah to finally accept the marriage proposal from Henry, Cornelius’s uncle. Henry’s wife, Mary, passed away of consumption fifteen years before, and he had been pursuing Annabelle for the past five years without success. Annabelle was a widow herself. She loved Henry very much but felt a little uneasy knowing that his sister, Elmirah, would give her a hard time just as she had done with Katherine and Cornelius.


  Nathaniel and Sarah were also expecting. Even though they never spoke again about the time machine or any related subject, Cornelius had the feeling deep inside that at one time or another, Nathaniel had traveled into the future. He just prayed that Nathaniel was conscious of the severity of his actions because any mistake would trigger irreparable alterations to their present, past, and therefore future.


  Every Sunday afternoon, Nathaniel and Sarah visited Cornelius and Katherine’s house. During one of those gatherings, Katherine and Sarah were taking a walk around the garden when Katherine began experiencing some discomfort. Sarah noticed that Katherine’s beautiful pink dress was also wet. She immediately called to Annabelle to help bring her inside. Henry left to call on the doctor.


  Sarah and Annabelle immediately prepared to bring Katherine’s child into the world. As the pain progressed, Katherine screamed louder. Henry and the doctor had not yet arrived. Downstairs, Cornelius apprehensively walked from one end of the house to the next. Nathaniel walked right behind him, attempting to calm him by reading aloud from the Bible. He then realized that in two months, he would be the one to nervously walk around the house while Sarah gave birth to their child.


  Katherine’s pain was intensifying as the child became closer to birth. Her screams were so loud that downstairs, Cornelius was getting impatient. He wanted to go up to the bedroom and see if there were any complications with the delivery. But Nathaniel did not let him. He held him every time he tried.


  Suddenly, the screaming ceased. Cornelius looked at Nathaniel in anguish. “Why did she stop screaming?”


  Cornelius nervously placed both hands on his head, as all sorts of thoughts invaded his mind. The memory of Katherine’s death in 1990 upset his spirit. What if Ruth’s theory was correct and Katherine was destined to die anyway?


  Cornelius couldn’t take not knowing what was going on in the bedroom where his wife was giving birth for much longer. Thankfully, a moment later, they heard the infant cry. Cornelius rushed up the stairs and threw open the door to the bedroom where his wife lay in bed, holding a beautiful baby girl, who had gracefully attached herself to her mother’s breast.


  Katherine looked at Cornelius in such a joyful and peaceful manner, as if with her eyes she was trying to convey the wonderful feeling she was experiencing inside. “Darling, come closer,” she said.


  Cornelius approached her; he ran his hands through her hair and kissed her on the forehead. “That’s my daughter,” he said with joy. When the child heard Cornelius’s voice, she began to cry.


  “Don’t cry, my little angel,” Katherine said softly to her as she tried to calm her down. But the baby kept crying louder.


  “Let me hold her,” said Cornelius. He sat down on the bed, and Katherine put the baby in his arms.


  “Meet your daughter, Sarah Annabelle,” said Katherine. As soon as Cornelius held her in his arms, the baby stopped crying. Cornelius was overcome by the wonderful new emotions of fatherhood.


  Katherine smiled. “All she wanted was to be held by her father.” She then turned gently on the bed while firmly pressing her hand on her stomach. “Are you all right, Katherine?” asked her mother.


  “No, Mother. The pain in my stomach is unbearable.”


  Cornelius sat in a rocking chair next to the window holding Sarah, but he was worried about his wife. “Will she be all right, Annabelle?” he asked anxiously.


  “I think she’ll be fine once the bleeding ceases,” said Annabelle. “When the physician gets here, he’ll give her something to help with the bleeding. For the moment, she just needs to rest. She lost a lot of blood.”


  “I’ll go down to the kitchen and make her chicken soup,” said Sarah.


  “Make sure you eat something, too,” said Annabelle.


  Henry finally arrived with a physician who was not their regular doctor.


  “Where is Dr. Seymour?” asked Sarah.


  “Dr. Seymour was passed out drunk in his office. I had to go to the next town and fetch Dr. Allen.”


  Sarah went back upstairs to show Dr. Allen to Katherine’s room.


  After Dr. Allen thoroughly examined Katherine, he approached Cornelius and whispered something very low so that Katherine would not hear. Katherine noticed the worry on Cornelius’s face and suddenly remembered that day in 1990 at the cemetery with Officer Zack when she saw a tombstone that read “Katherine Montgomery. 1816–1840. Beloved wife and mother.”When Katherine was in the year 1990, she completely forgot about that incident. She didn’t even mention it to Cornelius, but now she realized that by returning to her rightful time, life would follow its natural order. Annabelle and Sarah both looked concerned as well. As Sarah walked the doctor to the door, Cornelius asked her to tell Nathaniel to come quickly to Katherine’s room.


  Katherine felt excruciating pain; she constantly turned on the bed, and with her hands on her stomach, she screamed in agony.


  Chapter 16


  “Oh, Mother, do something! Please, make it stop!” A woman repeatedly and desperately screamed.


  “The coma patient is waking up!” shouted Mrs. Kennedy as she rushed to the patient’s room. The rest of the nurses on the third floor at County Memorial Hospital were also rushing through the hallway after noticing on their patient monitor that a woman who had been in a coma for the past two years had finally woken up.


  Mrs. Kennedy was the first nurse to arrive in the room. She was also the nurse on duty when the woman was brought there, half-dead, two years ago. No one believed back then that she would even make it through the first night. “Where does it hurt, sweetie?” Mrs. Kennedy asked the patient.


  “Oh, my dear Sarah, my stomach hurts terribly,” the patient replied as she reached for Mrs. Kennedy’s hand.


  The nurses looked at each other, and one of them said, “That must be her name.”


  “Sweetie, is Sarah your name?” asked Mrs. Kennedy. Right before the patient could answer her question, the doctor walked into the room.


  “How long has the patient been awake?”he asked.


  “Just a few minutes,” Mrs. Kennedy replied. “The poor creature woke up screaming in agony. She said her stomach hurts terribly.”


  “Let’s do a sonogram of her stomach immediately,” the doctor said. “I also want to check her brain activity now that she’s awake. Take her downstairs for an MRI as soon as her sonogram is completed.”
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  Four hours later, the patient was feeling better. Her stomach pain, which was due to a mild case of an ulcer, had disappeared with the medication, and the MRI showed no abnormalities in her brain. Now that she was completely awake and fully relaxed, the doctors and nurses had a series of questions to ask her.


  Mrs. Kennedy sat next to the patient. As she held her hands, she asked her, “Who is Sarah?”


  “She is Reverend Miller’s wife and also Katherine’s best friend,” replied the patient.


  “Who is Katherine?” asked the doctor.


  The patient gazed up to the ceiling without saying a word.


  “Do you know where you are?” asked the doctor.


  “No,” replied the patient.


  “You are in a hospital where you have been in a coma for the past two years,” said the doctor. “Do you remember anything about your life?” he asked.


  The patient was nervous and confused. She didn’t know what to say.


  “What do you remember about your life?” the doctor asked again.


  “What year is it?”she anxiously asked.


  “It is the year 2000,” replied the doctor. “Can you tell us anything about yourself?” he asked again.


  “My name is Katherine Johnson Montgomery. I was born in Greene County, New York, in the year 1816. My father was Zachary Johnson, and he was born in Dutch County, New York, in the year 1792. He and my grandfather, General Jeremiah Johnson, fought together in the War of 1812 against the British.


  “My father was honored to have fought side by side with a brave soldier like his father, who in the year 1775, at the age of eighteen, joined the continental army and fought beside many other brave colonists to end British control over the colonies in the War of Independence.


  “When the War of 1812 ended in the year 1814 and the Treaty of Ghent was signed, my father returned home to his young wife, Annabelle, who had anxiously waited two years for his return.


  “My grandmother, Harriet, was so happy to see that her son had made it home alive, but she was not as fortunate as my mother because her husband, Jeremiah, did not return. He was among the brave soldiers who perished in the American waters.”


  The patient realized that she had been talking nonstop, and all through her conversation, the doctors and nurses had remained quiet. She looked at them, waiting for a reaction, but they were speechless.


  Finally, one of the doctors broke the silence and asked, “How do you explain your presence in our time?”


  “I don’t know,” Katherine said. “This is not the first time I have traveled into the future. All I know is that I had just finished giving birth to my daughter, Sarah Annabelle, and I was experiencing excruciating pain.


  “My husband, Cornelius, was sitting next to the window holding our daughter as my mother was tending to me. But when I opened my eyes, they were gone, and the only face that I saw was that of Mrs. Kennedy. I realized that I was no longer in the year 1840. I need to get back to my time; my daughter needs me!” she said, agitated.


  “Everyone out of the room, please,” said the doctor. “The patient needs to rest. Mrs. Kennedy, please call psych and have them send someone up here to do a psychiatric evaluation on the patient.”


  Chapter 17


  After a week of intensive physical and mental evaluations, the doctors all concurred that the patient was ready to be discharged from the hospital. The psychiatrist determined that the patient was suffering from amnesia and that she may or may not recover her memory; only time would tell. But until then, Katherine needed to start living a normal life to create new memories.


  Mrs. Kennedy offered Katherine her home and treated her like the daughter she never had. Katherine was grateful to Mrs. Kennedy, but she couldn’t stop thinking about the people whom she shared her life with back in the 1800s. The memories were so vivid in her mind.


  She was working in the garden one morning when the memory of walking in the garden with her mother invaded her thoughts. “Why is this happening to me again?” she asked aloud.


  Mrs. Kennedy overheard Katherine’s comment, and she approached her. “Katherine, those memories are not real! When you fell into a coma, your subconscious took over and began generating dreams while you were sleeping, and the various medications that were administered to you during your coma contributed to the vividness of those dreams.”


  Katherine got up and hugged Mrs. Kennedy. “Help me find Ruth Miller and Elisabeth Seymour,” she said, crying.“They helped Cornelius and me get back to the year 1838when we were stranded in the year 1990. Only then will you believe that what I’m telling you is the truth.”


  “Oh, dear child!”said Mrs. Kennedy. “You are really tormented by those dreams. Your spirit won’t rest until you accept them for what they really are. But if helping you find those ladies will bring you peace, let’s get right on it!”


  “Thanks, Michelle,” said Katherine. “I have to warn you to prepare your heart and your mind for what you are about to discover.” She hugged Michelle and assured her that everything was going to be all right.


  After their conversation, Michelle went upstairs and called her grandson, Brandon. Twenty minutes later, the doorbell rang. Michelle was still upstairs getting ready.


  “Katherine!” shouted Michelle. “Please open the door. I’ll be down shortly.”


  “OK!”shouted Katherine as she rushed to open the door.


  A strikingly handsome young man stormed into the house.


  “Excuse me!” said Katherine.“Who are you?”


  “Oh, I apologize for barging in like that,” he said. “I’m Brandon Kennedy, and you must be the amnesia patient whom my grandmother speaks so highly of,” he said with a smile.


  “Yes, sir. I’m Katherine.”


  “It’s a pleasure to finally meet you,” Brandon said.


  Michelle descended the stairs, and Brandon immediately hurried to meet her halfway. “You forgot to mention how beautiful your guest was,” he whispered.


  “That’s because I didn’t want you to steal her heart with your irresistible charms,” she replied. They both laughed.


  Katherine looked at them and smiled.


  Mrs. Kennedy properly introduced the two of them. Afterward, she said to Katherine, “I hope you don’t mind, but I asked my grandson to help us look for your friends.”


  “I don’t mind at all,” said Katherine. “Thank you, for your kindness, Mr. Kennedy.”


  “Please, call me Brandon.”


  “Thank you, Brandon,” she said again.


  “Katherine, do you have any idea where we should begin our search?” he asked.


  “Yes, we should start at the library,” she said. “Elisabeth Seymour worked there for many years.”


  Brandon was completely captivated by Katherine’s beauty, even though he knew what she believed to be real only happened when she slept in a coma. He chose to ignore the facts, and without any hesitation, he went with her and his grandmother to the library that Katherine indicated.


  When they arrived at the library, Katherine asked the librarian about Elisabeth Seymour, but the librarian did not know who Elisabeth was. “Please, help me find information about my family in the archives from the years 1838 to 1840,” she asked kindly.


  The librarian looked for information for every name Katherine requested, but no information was found that indicated that she or the people she remembered really existed in that time period. Katherine was despondent.


  Brandon suggested that they should check census data from the 1800s at City Hall. They immediately went there, and Brandon’s friend Bobby, who worked there, helped them search for the names Katherine had provided. Unfortunately, all was in vain. No records about Katherine, Cornelius, or any other name she remembered were ever found.


  After a year of intense searching, Katherine finally gave up and accepted the amnesia version of her life. Slowly, she had been building new memories around the people whom she had learned to love, especially Michelle Kennedy, whom she had come to love like a mother. Some of the other nurses from the hospital had been true friends to her since she woke from her coma, and there were the people from church as well. Last but not least, there was Brandon Kennedy, who with his love, patience, and profound understanding had little by little stolen her heart, giving her life a wonderful new meaning.


  Chapter 18


  Three years had passed since Katherine woke up from her coma. She married Brandon Kennedy, and a year later they had their first child, a beautiful baby girl whom they named Sarah.


  Katherine cherished the memories of her dream life in the 1800s, which was still so vivid in her mind. But after carefully researching every detail from those dreams and reading every book about the history of New York from the specific period of time she remembered, she found no proof that would link her life to the mid-1800s.


  She did come across the name of a Richard Zenger, who lived in New York up until the year 1865. This Mr. Zenger was a prominent doctor who coincidently had a wife by the name of Elmirah Zenger. Katherine saw their picture in an old, faded newspaper clipping, and even though Elmirah and Richard had aged extensively, Katherine recognized them both without a doubt. But at that point, she was already convinced that her past memories were a product of her subconscious dreams.


  Katherine’s therapist recommended that she write all the memories of her supposed life in the 1800s in a journal. She followed her therapist’s advice, and two years later, the memories from her supposed prior life in the 1800s became a bestseller novella.


  Michelle Kennedy convinced her grandson, Brandon, to take Katherine on a vacation trip to Europe. Michelle was worried about her because she did not think that Katherine was ready to deal with the stress that the unexpected fame of her novella, The Other Side of the Painting, had brought her.


  Brandon took his grandmother’s advice and traveled with his wife and daughter, Sarah, to Italy. Their vacation turned out to be a great idea. They were having a wonderful time enjoying the beautiful scenery of Venice.


  But after their third night there, they became concerned about a woman who appeared to have been following them everywhere they went. One morning, as Katherine and Brandon had breakfast in a restaurant near their hotel, Brandon noticed the woman sitting outside the restaurant. He approached the woman and politely asked her if there was something he or his wife could do for her. The woman didn’t answer.


  Katherine walked up to her as well and said, “Have we met before?”


  The woman handed her a copy of The Other Side of the Painting and said, “My name is Isabella, and I, too, lived in the 1800s.” Katherine looked at her husband in shock, while the woman stood in front of them waiting for a response from her.


  “Isabella,” said Katherine, “I want to thank you for purchasing my book, but that story is completely fictional.”


  “I know that you now believe that your memories from your life in the past are a result of your subconscious dreams,” said Isabella, “but I’m here to tell you they’re not. I met Nathaniel and Sarah in 1839 on their trip to Italy. Nathaniel saved my life from a fatal disease by sending me to the year 1999, where he knew I would find the cure for my illness.”


  “Please, leave us alone,” said Brandon. “You are upsetting my wife.”


  Sarah began to cry, and Katherine picked her up.


  Isabella looked at the child in profound astonishment. “She resembles your husband, but the birthmark on her arm—she definitely got that from her grandmother, Annabelle, who I met when she traveled with Nathaniel and Sarah the second time they came to Italy.”


  Katherine was so stunned by Isabella’s comment that she spilled Sarah’s drink all over her clothes. “How do you know that Annabelle had a birthmark on her arm? I did not write that information in the book,” she said.


  “I’ve already told you,” said Isabella. “I met her when she came to Italy with Nathaniel and Sarah on their second visit. I’m sorry. I did not mean to upset you,” said Isabella as she looked at Katherine. She walked away.


  Brandon noticed Katherine’s reaction and said, “Don’t let the words of a confused fan get to you.”


  “I don’t know what to believe now,” said Katherine. “How could that woman have possibly known that specific detail about Annabelle? According to the doctors, my life in the 1800s was a product of my subconscious dreams while I deeply slept in a coma. I don’t remember giving any specific details about what anyone in my dreams looked like.”


  “Sweetheart, you told me how confused you were when you woke up and that you told the nurses and the doctors about your supposed life in the 1800s. You probably did mention the birthmark, and anyone in the hospital could have spread that information.”


  “You are probably right,” she said.


  For the remainder of their stay in Italy, Katherine and Brandon tried to forget the incident with Isabella, and they enjoyed the rest of their vacation. When they returned to New York, they resumed their lives as usual. Brandon concentrated on a difficult case his firm had assigned him, and Katherine took care of their daughter.


  Every other Friday evening, Michelle happily came over to watch Sarah so that Brandon and Katherine could enjoy sometime by themselves. On this Friday evening, they went to a play.


  “I really enjoyed that play,” said Katherine. “It seemed so real, especially the part when the brother realized his sister was telling the truth about her husband waking up in the middle of the night to scare her and then making her and everyone else believe that she was losing her mind.”


  “Yes, that was a great play,” said Brandon. “The author is a psychiatrist; the story is actually about his sister, and she portrayed herself in that play.”


  “You mean she really went through all that pain?”


  “Yes, she sadly did, and it would have been worse if her brother, Dr. Lancaster, had not come to her rescue.”


  Katherine was in shock when she heard the name “Lancaster.” Brandon noticed her reaction and asked her if she was OK.


  “Do you know the first name of this Dr. Lancaster?” she asked.


  “Yes, it is Shane. Dr. Shane Lancaster,” he said. “Shane and his wife run a mental clinic somewhere in New York. Why do you ask?”


  “No particular reason. I just don’t recall hearing his name during the play,” she said.


  “Honey, they’re not going to use their real names,” he said in a sweet tone of voice.


  She smiled. “Let’s go home, sweetheart. I’m feeling a little tired.”


  Brandon kissed her tenderly and caressed her face. “Honey, all you need is one of my special massages, and you’ll be like new.”


  When they got home, Katherine went straight to Sarah’s room. She looked at her for a long moment and said to herself, “What if I really lived in the 1800s?What if I really have another daughter who needs me?” She realized that even if that were the truth, there was nothing she could do about it.


  She kissed Sarah, and for her sake, she promised not to give it anymore thought. Brandon came in the room and put his arms around her, and they both watched their daughter sleep.


  The End
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